
 

 
 

 

 

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
Date Thursday 9 January 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

 
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held 5 November 2019 (Pages 3 - 14) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. Media Relations   

7. County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority Integrated 
          Risk Management Plan (IRMP) Three Year Consultation  
          (Pages 15 - 98) 

 (i)      Report of the Corporate Director of Resources  
(ii)      Presentation by Stuart Errington, Chief Fire Officer, County 

Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

8. Draft Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020-25 (Pages 99 - 162) 

 (i)  Report of the Corporate Director Adults & Health Services 
(ii)  Presentation by Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager, Adults &     

 Health Services 

9. Progress of Recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny  
          Review of Cybercrime (Pages 163 - 188) 

 (i)      Report of the Corporate Director Adults & Health Services 
(ii)      Presentation by Detective Inspector Stephanie Bird, Chair  

     Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Group  



10. Quarter Two 2019/20 Performance Management Report  
          (Pages 189 - 208) 

 (i)      Report of the Corporate Director of Resources 

11. Overview and Scrutiny Review Activity Update   

 (i)      Verbal Update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer 

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the  
           meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 

  County Hall 
  Durham 
  31 December 2019 

 
 
To: The Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillor D Boyes (Chair) 
Councillor H Liddle (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors B Avery, A Bainbridge, A Batey, J Charlton, R Crute, S Durham, 
D Hall, C Hampson, G Huntington, S Iveson, B Kellett, L Kennedy, 
J Maitland, E Mavin, J Stephenson, D Stoker, K Thompson, J Turnbull and 
C Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: Mr D Balls and Mr A J Cooke 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: Chief Fire Officer S Errington and 
Chief Superintendent A Green 
 
 

Contact:  Amanda Stephenson Tel: 03000 269 712 

 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
At a Meeting of Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 5 
November 2019 at 9.30 am 
 
Present: 

Councillor D Boyes in the Chair 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors B Avery, A Batey, D Hall, C Hampson, S Iveson, H Liddle, J Maitland, 
E Mavin, K Thompson, J Turnbull, C Wilson, P Jopling (substitute for J Charlton) 
and J Clark (substitute for L Kennedy) 
 
Co-opted Members: 

Mr D Balls and Mr A J Cooke 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Bainbridge, J Charlton, R 
Crute, G Huntington, B Kellett, L Kennedy, D Stoker and Chief Fire Officer S 
Errington. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor P Jopling substituted for Councillor J Charlton and Councillor J Clark 
substituted for Councillor L Kennedy. 
 

3 Minutes of the Meeting  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised the Committee that a response was 
sent to David Orford regarding his new appointment of Deputy Chief Constable of 
Durham Constabulary. He added that a letter containing the views of members on 
arson and deliberate secondary fires within the east Durham area was considered 
by the Safe Durham Partnership and a response from the partnership was 
anticipated.   
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted in respect of the item relating to Media 
that the consultation on alcohol licensing in Durham City had been circulated to 
members of the committee and the closing date was 8 November 2019. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Overview and Scrutiny Officer mentioned in relation to the item on the Quarter 
One 2019/20 Performance Management Report he had sent Councillor Hampson’s 
comments to the relevant Officers within Durham County Council and they had 
been actioned.   
 

4 Declarations of Interest, if any  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties. 
 

6 Media Relations  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred members to the recent prominent 
articles and news stories relating to the remit of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Articles included “Speaking out against hate crime” relating to the Hate Crime 
Awareness Week that raised awareness of hate crime and encouraged people who 
witnessed or experienced it to report it.  The article was related to item 9 on the 
Committee’s agenda and would be presented by the Head of Policy and 
Communications, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner.  
 
The second article was “Youth re-offending service commended for impacting 
young people's lives” relating to the County Durham Youth Justice Service being 
presented with Investors in Children Status.  The article related to item 7 on the 
Committee’s agenda that would be presented by the Head of Early Help, Inclusion 
and Vulnerable Children and the Youth Justice Services Manager. 

 
Resolved 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

7 County Durham Youth Justice Service (CDYJS) Youth Justice Plan 
2019 - 2021  
 
The Chair introduced the Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 
and the Youth Justice Services Manager who jointly delivered a presentation that 
provided an update on the County Durham Youth Justice Service and the Youth 
Justice Plan 2019-2021 (for copy see file of minutes).   
 
The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children informed the committee 
that the County Durham Youth Justice Service was a statutory partnership between 
Durham County Council, Durham Constabulary, National Probation Service and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups that worked with young people to help them not to 
reoffend who were under a statutory duty to submit a Youth Justice Plan.  
 

Page 4



The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children noted that after a 
consultation exercise the name of the service had changed to County Durham 
Youth Justice Service (CDYJS) to be more reflective of what the service offered 
and to remove the negative label placed on young people that used the service. 
 
The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children told the committee that 
the Youth Justice Plan 2019-2021 had been presented to cabinet and full council 
and was also going to the Safe Durham Partnership Board.  It highlighted some of 
the key achievements in reducing reoffending during 2018-19 and provided areas 
of improvement that the service would focus on within the next twelve months 
through a service improvement plan.   
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the committee that the focus of the 
service improvement plan was on: 
 

 Communication being vital to the service as it was found that 85% of young 
people had speech and language difficulties making it hard for them to 
understand the process;  

 Targeting resources to ensure that the means were used appropriately on 
young people and their families; 

 Listening being fundamental to safeguard what young people said was heard 
and acted on;  

 Restorative justice being central to everything the service does; 

 Quality assurance guaranteeing that the service maintained high quality and 
all front-line staff were fully trained.  

 Volunteering where volunteers offered mentoring services for young people 
and their families including both young victims and perpetrators being trained 
to become mentors and leaders.  

 Support services being available for young people and their families. 
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager noted that the County Durham Youth Justice 
Service had a substantive health team working within the partnership that included 
services from Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), Speech 
and Language Therapy, Public Health, School Nurses, Substance misuse, mental 
health and wellbeing services to provide all the support young people and their 
families need.  Members were advised that this approach had led to the 
achievement of the Investors in Children Status and the service was a finalist for 
two awards.  It was added that the achievements of the service were on par with 
other organisations who offered the same service in the North East. 
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the committee that the health 
services were crucial when supporting young victims who were equally traumatised 
following crimes including burglary and the focus of support had concentrated on 
the adult.  Members were also advised that special psychologist services helped to 
support young people and prevent repeat reoffending.  He mentioned that the 
numbers of repeat offenders in County Durham was low with a total of 16 young 
people within County Durham who had committed six offences or more in the 
previous 12 months. 

Page 5



 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the committee that the Youth Justice 
Plan 2019-2021 had been submitted to the Youth Justice Board on 5 August 2019 
with feedback stating that it was an excellent plan. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children and 
the Youth Justice Services Manager for their presentation and asked members of 
the committee for any questions and comments. 
 
Mr Cooke congratulated the service on a very comprehensive report and asked if 
the service worked with families of reoffenders. 
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the Committee that the County 
Durham Youth Justice Service had specialist members of staff who worked with 
parents and families of reoffenders whereas many other organisations worked only 
with reoffenders.  
 
Mr Cooke asked if parents accepted the County Durham Youth Justice Service 
working with their children.   
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager explained that most parents were accepting of 
the County Durham Youth Justice Service working with their children but there were 
some challenges to engagement and there were certain powers that could be used 
to force parent involvement, but these were used sparingly. Members were 
informed of a group that was established for parents who had suffered abuse from 
their children.  It was added that the group had been well received and had won an 
award for its work and for raising awareness to the negative element placed on 
parents of offenders. 
 
Councillor D Boyes informed the group that there was a cohort of young people 
who committed anti social behaviour in his division that did not engage with the 
police.  He stated that people were frightened to go out due to the gangs in the area 
that caused anti-social behaviour. Councillor Boyes requested clarity on what could 
be done to engage with young people in these situations.   
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager notified the committee that the County 
Durham Youth Justice Service only worked with young people who had been 
through the formal court system.  The service did not deal with lower levels of anti-
social behaviour however it did work with police and anti-social behaviour officers if 
young people who were in the system were causing anti-social behaviour.  The 
service could carry out interventions and staff provided positive activities throughout 
the year and during holiday periods to try to prevent negative behaviour.  He 
informed the committee that the police were required to consult with the service 
before going through the anti-social behaviour legislation with regards to young 
people. 
 

Page 6



Councillor P Jopling asked if work had been undertaken regarding why young 
people were physically abusive towards their parents, why they were angry and if 
there were any statistics on this area.  
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the committee that statistics were 
collected on a range of areas of why young people offended.  He advised the 
committee that the main reason for young people being abusive was because they 
felt angry and frustrated and did not fully understanding an issue. It was added that 
many young people receiving support from the service had speech and language 
difficulties and whilst there was not one answer to rectify a situation, communication 
was vital.    
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager noted that some incidents parents could also 
have an adverse effect on young people’s behaviour and committing offences may 
be the consequence of them being neglected, ignored or suffered any traumatic 
experience early in their life.    
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager used the simple act of smiling as an example 
that could be detrimental to a young person in the system.  He informed the 
committee that research showed that smiling was a natural reaction when people 
were frightened or nervous. He explained to the committee that a young person 
standing in front of a judge in court smiling could be a reaction to not understanding 
what was going on and could be taken as them appearing arrogant of which could 
result in a more severe punishment being given out than if they looked sad and 
remorseful.  
 
The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children informed the committee 
that wider work was being undertaken with the One Point service with parents and 
young people to see how they could work together to address anti-social behaviour. 
 
Councillor J Clark commended all the hard work that had gone into introducing 
services for young people and asked how victim support services for young people 
were promoted.  She was concerned that if a crime was committed against a young 
person that they may be reluctant to come forward and report it especially if they 
knew who carried out the offence and they were worried about repercussions.  
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager notified the committee that they encountered 
difficulties with parents of young people who had been victims of crime not wanting 
their children to take part in restorative processes.  He felt that parents thought they 
were protecting their children but teams work with families to link them into a whole 
range of services that offer support, so they feel more confident to report crimes.  
 
Councillor D Hall raised concern to young people who were of primary school age 
in the villages within his division that caused issues and felt there was very little 
mandatory actions that could be taken to tackle the ring leaders that may alleviate 
these issues. 
 

Page 7



Councillor D Boyes responded that anti-social behaviour could be an area to be 
considered within the Committee’s work programme. 
 
Councillor J Turnbull asked if the service got involved with high levels of anti-social 
behaviour being carried out by young people between the ages of eight and ten 
years old who did not attend school.  
 
The Youth Justice Services Manager informed the Committee that the service did 
not concentrate on incidents of young people causing anti-social behaviour unless 
the young people were already in the system. The Head of Early Help, Inclusion 
and Vulnerable Children stated that if children were not attending school, Durham 
County Council and partners could intervene under the school attendance 
legislation.  
 
Mr Balls commented on appendix two within the report that showed a reduction in 
custodial sentences.  He said that these were used as a last resort for young 
people, usually only for serious offences or where there had been several breaches 
of a community order. The numbers of custodial sentences were therefore quite 
small and variances from one period to the next could easily skew the presentation 
of performance.   
 
Resolved 
That the report and presentation be noted. 
 
That the plan be received. 
 

8 Modern Slavery Overview Report  
 
The Chair introduced the Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Business Manager who 
was in attendance to provide the committee with an overview of modern slavery 
and human trafficking.  A report was circulated to outline the range of partnership 
activity that took place around modern slavery and human trafficking (for copy see 
file of minutes).  
 
The SAB Business Manager informed the committee that the Modern Slavery Act 
was introduced in 2015.  As best practice the Local Authority published a 
transparency statement prior to a change in the Act. The statement outlined the 
Council commitment to ensuring modern slavery does not exist in supply chains. 
 
 Modern slavery covered a range of issues that included sexual exploitation, 
domestic servitude, forced labour and criminal exploitation.  Members were 
informed that Durham County Council had a role to raise awareness, however, 
levels of modern slavery were low in County Durham but had increased due to the 
increase in the widening awareness to the issue and training that had taken place.   
 
The SAB Business Manager notified the committee that Section 52 of ‘the act’ 
placed a duty to notify on specific agencies when a potential victim of modern 
slavery or human trafficking is identified.  

Page 8



The committee were advised that an independent review had taken place that 
identified gaps in provision and of a national tendering exercise to explore areas of 
safety, 24-hour referrals, support services offering accommodation or outreach 
support, transport and translation services.  On a national level there had been an 
increase in reported cases which may be attributed to heightened awareness and 
press coverage 
 
The SAB Business Manager informed the committee that a Modern Slavery Charter 
had been created by the Council and was constantly being monitored. She noted 
that joint working was continual with the Council’s Adult and Health Services along 
with Durham Council’s Housing Solutions, Durham Constabulary, the Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board and the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership.  
Members were advised that partners would be participating in an event during 
Safeguarding Week on 20 November 2019 that would raise awareness to tackling 
modern slavery. 
 
The Chair thanked the SAB Business Manager for her overview of modern slavery 
and human trafficking and invited questions from members of the committee. 
 
The Acting Chief Executive, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner notified the committee that his team were involved in this work and 
they were trying to raise awareness. He noted there had been an increase in 
reported cases due to heightened awareness of the issue amongst the public and 
organisations and his team continued to support the cause. 
 
Councillor P Jopling highlighted a recent media following the death of migrants 
found in a truck container in Essex as an example of people coming into England 
illegally and the appalling conditions they suffered for a potentially better life.   
Councillor P Jopling, raised concern to an increase in car washes, nail bars and 
barbers and asked if checks were undertaken to check they were legitimate 
businesses to ensure staff were not victims of modern slavery.   
 
Councillor D Boyes informed the Committee that the Council dealt with this through 
licensing. Councillor A Batey notified the committee that the licensing committee 
members had received awareness training on child sexual exploitation and taxi 
drivers had been educated to identify any issues.    
 
The SAB Business Manager informed the committee of the work of organisations 
such as the Gangmasters Labour and Abuse Authority and National Crime Agency 
of checking processes that could be undertaken. She informed of initiatives such as 
the introduction of kitemark schemes. She informed the committee that partnership 
working also took place with those agencies for example UK Visa and Immigration 
so that intelligence is shared to monitor and support prevention of instances. She 
noted that there was also a mobile app that had been launched “Safe car wash” 
where anyone could report concerns anonymously.   
 
 

Page 9



Councillor P Jopling was concerned that the public could not be solely relied upon 
to report incidents. Councillor D Boyes informed the committee that there were 
different teams involved with the initiative and there was a Councillors guide that 
should be circulated to all members. 
 
Councillor J Clarke informed the committee that a breakfast seminar had been held 
on modern slavery for members that was presented by a police officer that included 
the ‘safe car wash’ app.  Councillor Clarke felt that the presentation should be 
circulated to all members as it was interesting to note that there were more white 
British people that were being forced into slavery because of debt than foreign 
nationals.  The Overview and Scrutiny Officer agreed to contact appropriate officers 
to seek authorisation to circulate the information as requested.  
 
Mr Cooke felt that modern slavery took on many forms and was concerned that 
people came into this country by unlawful means in order to get jobs but did not 
expect to be fearful and therefore would not report their abusers in case they were 
caught and repatriated to their country. 
 
The SAB Business Manager informed the committee that the service tried to 
support victims as much as possible and recognised there were often barriers to 
reporting for potential victims, sharing the example that often victims may have fled 
circumstances in another country and where they have been fearful of 
professionals and/or police and as a result they may have difficulty trusting in 
professionals/police here. She felt services and agencies were moving forward 
evident from national referral systems and support was provided to educate and 
train professionals and develop resources to support victims to feel safe.    
 
Councillor J Turnbull gave an example of a person who was kept in a house against 
his will within his division despite residents in the vicinity complaining about the 
derelict house. Cllr Turnbull felt that more needed to be done when concerns were 
raised as there was a reluctance of the local authority, housing association or police 
to take action.    
 
Councillor D Boyes informed the committee that work was being carried out under 
selected licensing under Cabinet member Councillor K Shaw with regards to empty 
houses and trying to bring them back into use. 
 
The SAB Business Manager informed the committee that the police worked closely 
with housing and it was embedded into the wider training programme to help with 
these situations within the community. 
 
Resolved 
That the report be noted and comments observed 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



9 County Durham and Darlington Hate Crime Action Group Update  
 
The Chair introduced the Acting Chief Executive, Office of the Durham Police, 
Crime and Victims’ Commissioner (OPCVC) who was in attendance to update the 
Committee on the County Durham and Darlington Hate Crime Action Group (for 
copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Acting Chief Executive, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner informed the committee that the County Durham and Darlington 
Hate Crime Action Group was set up in 2013 by the Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner to co-ordinate an action plan to target and reduce hate 
crime.  
 
The Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC advised members of a table within the report 
that highlighted that hate incidents had increased by 20% since the group was 
established. He informed the committee that the increased number of cases 
reported may be due to terrorist acts being published in the media and the 
reclassification of certain types of anti-social behaviour that were now classed as a 
crime.   
 
The Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC notified the committee that the joint plan was 
launched in October 2018 following a conference that was held in July 2018 that 
promoted diversity.  The County Durham and Darlington Hate Crime Action Group 
was a multi-agency partnership that included members from the voluntary sector.   
 
He noted that the priorities of the action plan focussed on: 
 

 Multi agency communication - the hate hurt campaign was launched in March 
2019 that had been adopted by the police as their brand.  It stated that if 
hate crime was recognised it should be reported;  

 Review of reporting mechanisms to ensure there were lots of ways in which 
hate crime could be reported and to identify gaps and put things in place to 
address them;  

 Shared intelligence to ensure that all information is shared between 
organisations;  

 Evidence to make sure that files transferred between organisations were 
done effectively so that cases were not delayed;  

 Support victims to ensure that all victims of hate crime were supported.  
There were numerous organisations offering a wide range of support 
available to victims and a mapping exercise had commenced to address 
gaps in support.  

 
The Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC informed the committee that future meetings 
would be arranged to continue the hard work.  He noted that the tension monitoring 
kit devised by Durham County Council had been used to allow officers in different 
organisations to identify situations and make others aware of it in other 
organisations.  He told the committee that data was held on a central database 
where police and organisations had access to and it was continually monitored.  

Page 11



He also noted that a performance monitoring framework would be developed for the 
joint hate crime action group.  
 
The Chair thanked the Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC and asked members of the 
committee for any questions or comments. 
 
Councillor D Boyes commented on an increase in hate crime incidents and political 
changes since 2016.  
 
Councillor P Jopling sought clarification that if a person was called nasty names on 
social media whether that would be classed as hate crime.   
 
The Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC informed the committee that this could 
constitute hate crime and should be reported to the police to investigate.   
 
Councillor J Maitland requested clarification on what the difference was in terms of 
hate crime being an incident and a crime.   
 
The Acting Chief Executive, OPCVC explained that an incident was anything that 
was reported to the police but was not classed in law as a crime and a crime was 
anything that was defined in the wording of the law as a crime.  
 
Councillor J Clark commented that there was a list on the Durham County Council’s 
website that gave a wide range of categories that were now classed in law as hate 
crime.   Councillor J Clark added that she felt incidents were needed to be reported 
so the police were aware and could investigate and noted that hate crime was not 
all stereotypical focused on foreign nationals but could be anyone. 
  
The Acting Chief Executive, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner noted that if the victim self-identified the offence as a hate crime 
then the police would investigate it as that. 
 
Resolved 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 Police and Crime Panel  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update with regards to the Police 
and Crime Panel (PCP) meetings that were held on 20 September 2019 and 17 
October 2019 (for copy see file of minutes).   
 
Members were informed that it had been an unprecedented time with the 
appointment of the Acting Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner and the 
appointment of the Acting Chief Executive for the Office of the Police Crime and 
Victims Commissioner.   
 
 

Page 12



The Overview and Scrutiny Officer informed the committee that at its meeting in 
October, the PCP considered the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s 
Annual report and the Quarterly Performance report and would circulate these 
reports to Members. 
  
Resolved 
That the verbal update be noted. 
 

11 Overview and Scrutiny Review Update  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update with regards to the 
Committee’s overview and scrutiny reviews. Members were advised that the 
Children’s Residential Care Homes report was scheduled to be presented at the 
next Cabinet meeting. 
 
Members were informed the committee that there had been a Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Working Group held on 10 October 2019 to 
develop a County Durham Road Safety Strategy.  Presentations at this meeting 
were delivered by the Data Analyst for North East Regional Road Safety Resource, 
Durham County Council’s Road Safety Manager and the Casualty Reduction 
Coordinator for Durham Constabulary.  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer informed the group that the next steps for the 
group were to consider the draft strategy and the Overview and Scrutiny Officer 
was working closely with the Road Safety Manager to identify dates for future 
working groups meetings.  
 
Resolved 
That the verbal update be noted. 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Safer and Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 9 January 2020 

 County Durham & Darlington Fire & 

Rescue Authority Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) Three Year 

Consultation  

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with background information in advance of presentation on 
consultation of County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Authority’s (CDDFRA) IRMP annual action plan and consultation 
process.  

Executive summary 

2 The IRMP consultation seeks views and comments in relation to the 
three-year IRMP document, emergency response review, response 
standards, arson reduction, safe and well-being visits and charging 
businesses for false alarms from unwanted fire signals.  

Recommendation 

3 The Committee is asked to consider and provide comment to the 
CDDFRA IRMP consultation.  

Background 

4 The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State 
to prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework. The Framework sets 
out priorities and objectives for fire and rescue authorities who must 
have regard to the Framework in carrying out their duties 

5 The National Framework requires fire and rescue authorities to publish 
an IRMP, reflecting up to date risk information and covering at least a 
three year period. At its meeting in January 2019, the Committee 
considered and responded to CDDFRA’s IRMP for the period 2019/20.  

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



6 Attached in Appendix 2 is a report from the Chief Fire Officer providing 
information on the IRMP’s content, options to be considered within the 
three- year period and consultation processes.  A copy of the IRMP 
2020-2023 is attached in Appendix 3.  

7 Appendix 4 to this report contains a copy of the IRMP consultation 
document that seeks comment on the three-year IRMP document, 
emergency response review, response standards, arson reduction, safe 
and well-being visits and charging businesses for false alarms from 
unwanted fire signals. A question and answer booklet to the 
consultation is attached in Appendix 5.  

8 The Chief Fire Officer will be in attendance to deliver the presentation 
attached in Appendix 6 and respond to questions from the committee on 
the IRMP proposals.  

Main implications 

Financial   

9 The IRMP document reports that CDDFRA have a shortfall in funding of 
£0.460 million in 2020/21. 

Consultation  

10 Outcomes from this report and presentation will contribute to the Fire 
Authority’s consultation on its IRMP.  

Conclusion 

11 The attached report and presentation provides an opportunity for 
Members to consider and comment on consultation proposals within the 
IRMP.  

Background papers 

  None 

Other useful documents 

 Previous Cabinet reports / None 

 

Contact: Jonathan Slee Tel:  03000 268142 

   

   

Page 16



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

The IRMP document reports that CDDFRA have a shortfall in funding of 

£0.460 million in 2020/21. 

Consultation 

Outcomes from this report and presentation will contribute to the Fire 

Authority’s consultation on its IRMP. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

FRAs must have regard to IRMP policy guidance on community safety 

including wider public safety outcomes such as reduction of hoax fire calls and 

deliberate fires. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

Safest People, Safest Places 

Safer and Stronger Overview  
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

9th January 2020 

INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP) THREE YEAR 
CONSULTATION 
 

REPORT OF STUART ERRINGTON, CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1. To provide the Safer Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 

background to the Fire Authority’s IRMP annual action plan. The Committee will be 
provided with a presentation setting out details of the plan and consultation 
process. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
2. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to prepare 

a Fire and Rescue National Framework. The Framework sets out priorities and 
objectives for fire and rescue authorities who must have regard to the Framework 
in carrying out their duties. 

 
3. The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework document places a 

responsibility on all fire and rescue authorities to produce and consult on their 
IRMP. These documents direct fire and rescue authorities to: 

 

 be accountable to communities for the service they provide; 

 identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
their areas face; 

 make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and the 
response to fire and rescue related incidents;  

 develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, flexible 
and diverse; 

 collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide. 

 
4. Specifically, the National Framework states that we have a statutory 

responsibility to include a number of areas within the IRMP. These duties are 
summarised below:  
  

 Reflect up-to-date risk analyses of all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
that could affect the area of the authority;  

 
Appendix 2 

Page 19



 

   
 

 Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be 
used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified 
risks on its communities;  

 Outline required service delivery outcomes including the allocation of resources 
for the mitigation of risks;  

 Set out its management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the 
provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order (RRO) 2005;  

 Cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed and revised as often as 
is necessary;  

 Reflect effective consultation throughout its development and at all review 
stages with the community, its workforce and representative bodies and 
partners; and   

 Be easily accessible and publicly available. 
 
5. The Service’s IRMP is a three-year strategic plan. This is reviewed annually to 

assess the effectiveness of existing arrangements. Following this review an annual 

IRMP Action Plan is developed. 

IRMP CONTENT 
 
6. The IRMP contains profile information regarding the Service area, performance 

data governance arrangements and how the Service identifies, manages and 
responds to risk in County Durham and Darlington. 

 
7. Linking directly to the Community Risk Profile and District Profiles, the IRMP sets 

out the key risks found and what proactive and reactive measures will be in place 
relating to each identified risk. 

 
8. Each of the 6 Strategies (Community Safety; Business Fire Safety and Fire 

Investigation; Emergency Response; Assets and Assurance; Workforce 
Development; Collaboration) and the MTFP is directly referenced with regard to 
how they are affected by risk. 

 
9. A series of commitments made within the IRMP to the communities in each area 

of the Service: 
 

 To be the best FRS in the UK; 

 Reduce risks to vulnerable people by offering a mutual pathway with partner 
agencies; 

 Ensure that at least 80% of Safe and Well-being Visit (SWVs) are targeted to 
vulnerable people and those at greatest risk will be revisited within 12 months; 

 Identify and engage with local businesses to ensure appropriate fire safety 
measures are in place; 

 Track performance using mix of performance indicators and set against 
localised targets; 

 Strive for excellence in everything we do by encouraging staff to be innovative; 

 Provide additional scrutiny in a range of areas, using members as champions 
in those areas; 

Page 20



 

   
 

 Act on Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) inspection findings; 

 Provide an overview of risk so we can plan resources effectively; 

 Be proactive to prevent adverse events happening; 

 Be fully prepared to respond to events in order to mitigate impact; 

 Demonstrate how our activities address risk; 

 Allocate resources to each risk in order to provide the best possible service; 

 Continually review the way staff are deployed; 

 Regularly review equipment to ensure firefighters have the most effective tools 
to do their job; 

 Consult with the people we serve. 
 

10. The Service has a series of proposals to consider over the next 3 years: 
 

In 2020/21, the following options would be considered:  
  

 Implementing day crewing on a permanent basis at (Newton Aycliffe) and 
(Seaham);  

 Implementing the 4&2 model at (Durham) on a permanent basis if the trial 
proves successful;  

 Implement the change to wholetime/Retained Duty System (RDS) duty systems 
at Spennymoor if the trial proves successful;    

 Introduce a charging system for certain businesses when we attend multiple 
unwanted fire signals to their premises if the trial proves successful;  

 Review the crewing arrangements at Crook and Barnard Castle and trial the 
opportunity of introducing Targeted Response Vehicles (TRVs) to these 
stations;  

 Carry out a further review of the structure at middle and strategic manager 
levels to take account of any opportunities that collaboration may present for 
further efficiencies;  

 Undertake a further review of the governance arrangements for the Fire 
Authority;  

 Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration projects 
undertaken with Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service (FRS) and 
Northumberland FRS.      

 
In 2021/22, the following options would be considered:  
  

 Implementing the outcomes of the review of the crewing arrangements at our 
two appliance RDS stations and introduce TRVs if the trial proves successful;    

 Introduce a trial of riding with four at some single pump wholetime stations;  

 Implement an amended structure at middle and strategic level if the review 
provides appropriate opportunities;  

 Implement any changes suggested through the governance review;  

 Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration projects 
undertaken with Tyne and Wear FRS and Northumberland FRS.  
 
  

 

Page 21



 

   
 

In 2022/23, the following options would be considered:  
  

 Implement the changes of riding with four at some single pump wholetime 
stations if the trial proves successful;  

 Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration projects 
undertaken with Tyne and Wear FRS and Northumberland FRS.  

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
11. The consultation on the 2020/21 proposals will begin on 13th December 2019 and 

will run for 12 weeks until 6th March 2020. In order to ensure that a wide range of 
views can be gathered the Communications Team will lead on disseminating a 
consultation document containing the specific questions regarding the future plans 
of the Service. 

 
12. This will include making the IRMP available on the FRS website; organising 

community events to discuss the plan with the public; liaising with politicians and 
other local community leaders to disseminate the consultation document and using 
social media to promote it. There will be an online survey that people can complete.  

 
Consultation Questions 
 
13. The Combined Fire Authority (CFA) considered and approved the following 

questions to be put to the public: 

 

a) Do you have any comments or suggested amendments to our three-year 

Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) document? 

b) Following our trial, do you support our proposal to implement the day crewing 

arrangements at Seaham and Newton Aycliffe on a permanent basis from April 

2020?  

c) Following our trial, do you support our proposal to implement the crewing 

arrangements at Durham and Spennymoor on a permanent basis from April 

2020? 

d) We have maintained our response standards based on our historical approach 

to responding to incidents. Do you support our approach to maintain these 

standards or do you think we should carry out a review? 

e) Given the increase in arson that we have experienced over the last few years 

do you support our intention to reallocate some resources into arson reduction 

initiatives?  

f) Do you support our approach to continue to focus our safe and wellbeing visits 

on those people who are at greatest risk from fire? 

g) Following our trial, do you support our proposal to introduce a charging system 

for certain businesses when we attend multiple unwanted fire signals to their 

premises? 

 

 

Page 22



 

   
 

Recommendations 

 

12. Members are requested to: 

(i) Consider and note the content of the IRMP action plan and consultation 
which will be presented at the meeting. 

 
Appendix 3 
 
Integrated Risk Management Plan 
 
Appendix 4 
 
IRMP Consultation Document 
 
Appendix 5 
 
IRMP Consultation Question and Answer Booklet 

Contact:  Alison Baxter, Policy Support Officer 

  County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority   

Tel:   0191 3755571  E-mail: alison.baxter@ddfire.gov.uk 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Risk 
Management Plan
2020 - 2023 

Safest People, Safest Places

P
age 25

Amanda.Stephenson
Text Box
Appendix 3



Foreword........................................................................................................................

Executive summary.......................................................................................................

What is an Integrated Risk Management Plan?.......................................................

Vision & Values..............................................................................................................

About our Service area................................................................................................

How are we performing?.............................................................................................

Governance..................................................................................................................

How we identify risk.......................................................................................................

How we manage and respond to risk ........................................................................

What are the risks we have identified?.......................................................................

Prevention, protection and response.........................................................................

Our workforce................................................................................................................

How do we collaborate?.............................................................................................

How do we manage our finances?............................................................................

Allocating resource to risk............................................................................................

Response standards......................................................................................................

Our action plan for the next three years....................................................................

Consultation...................................................................................................................

2

3

4

5

6

9

11

12

13

14

20

23

24

25

26

28

29

31

Contents

Page | 1

P
age 26



County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Authority (the Authority) is responsible 
for ensuring the public in County Durham and 
Darlington are protected from all foreseeable 
fire and rescue related risks that they may face. 
The Authority does this by making provision, 
through County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service (CDDFRS), for sufficient 
prevention and protection activities and 
ensuring that an effective and resilient 
emergency response provision is maintained.

The Authority also has a statutory responsibility, 
under the Fire and Rescue Services Act 
(2004), to produce an Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) that outlines how 
CDDFRS will mitigate and address the risks our 
communities face. In 2018, CDDFRS developed 
a comprehensive methodology for assessing 
these risks, which is outlined in our Community 
Risk Profile (CRP) 2019/20 – 2021/22.:

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans

Mitigating the risks outlined in our CRP is also 
constrained by the funding available to us. 
Since 2010/11, the Authority has seen a £7.8m 
reduction in the funding we receive from 
government and a reduction in our overall 
budget of almost £3m. 

We expect the Authority to continue to face 
a very challenging financial climate going 
forward, as further cuts to government funding 
are made. This is exacerbated by restrictions on 
the amount of income we can raise through 
council tax and predictions of significant 

pressures on spending. The next three years are 
therefore likely to require further innovation and 
changes to the way we operate and deliver 
our prevention, protection and emergency 
response services. 

Within this IRMP we have committed to a 
number of commitments to the communities of 
County Durham and Darlington in order to offer 
reassurance that they are, and will continue 
to be provided with the best possible fire and 
rescue service (FRS). 

We will need to review all aspects of the 
organisation and seek to work collaboratively 
where there are benefits in doing so. Some 
of the risks that our communities face are 
extremely complex and require mitigating 
actions from a range of our partner 
organisations. Collaboration also has the 
potential to deliver more efficient, effective 
and resilient support services.  

CDDFRS has a history of adapting and dealing 
well with adversity throughout this prolonged 
period of austerity. Putting our staff at the heart 
of everything we do and developing and 
maintaining a positive organisational culture 
will help to ensure that we continue to be 
successful, despite these many challenges.  We 
are committed to delivering a professional, 
innovative and effective FRS, as we continue 
to work towards our vision of “safest people, 
safest places”.    

Foreword

Councillor John Robinson
Chair, Combined Fire Authority 

(CFA) 

Stuart Errington
Chief Fire Officer 

(CFO)

Page | 2

P
age 27

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Executive summary
This document sets out the strategic plan 
for County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Authority and provides a 
conduit to our other strategic planning 
documents. The document explains 
how we are accountable to our local 
community through the Combined 
Fire Authority (CFA) and links to a wide 
spectrum of local community groups.

Our CRP, which is reviewed annually, 
comprehensively describes our greatest 
risks. This then feeds the localised district 
profiles (https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-
plans )followed by the IRMP planning 
process.

The IRMP clearly sets out how we identify, 
assess and manage existing and emerging 
risks, while also providing links to our more 
detailed CRP, local district-based profiles 
and six strategic priorities, as well as 
highlighting the challenges faced by our 
Fire Authority over the next three years.

Our IRMP summarises how, through 
efficient, effective and innovative 
prevention and protection activities, we 
aim to keep our communities safe from 
harm. It covers all of the activity that we 
are engaged in to exploit opportunities 
and reduce the risk associated with 
providing a professional FRS to the 
communities of County Durham and 
Darlington.

Once we have identified our risks, we look 
to focus on how we can best prepare 
ourselves in order to prevent incidents 
occurring and protect people from them, 
while also planning the most effective way 
to respond, all of which are covered within 
our six strategic priorities. Our Community 
Risk Management (CRM) section will focus 
on a number of key areas over the next 
three years.

We have developed a range of options 
to meet our response plan over the next 
three years that will enable us to respond 
in an uncertain financial climate and 
continue to deliver an effective response 
to the public across our Service area. We 
have aligned our responses to the areas 
of greatest risk and set out standards to 

measure how we perform.

Ensuring that we have a highly skilled and 
professional workforce is a key priority for 
the Service, and our plans include the use 
of the apprenticeship levy and career 
progression framework to develop staff. 
We are seeking to address diversity in our 
workforce through a range of innovative 
methods, as we recognise that we need 
to have a workforce reflective of our 
community.

Since our last IRMP, we have explored 
further the possibility of working closer 
with other regional FRSs and emergency 
services to enable us to better protect 
the public we serve, particularly the most 
vulnerable members of our community, 
while providing value for money.

We have published a medium-term 
financial plan (MTFP), which considers a 
range of possible financial scenarios in an 
uncertain future.  The Service has plans 
that balance the budget in the short term, 
and contingencies for the medium to long 
term.

Our plans are developed in consultation 
with the community and partner agencies, 
as well as our staff and their representative 
bodies. We are committed to listening to 
your views and will hold a consultation 
exercise every year on our plans for the 
immediate future.

Page | 3

P
age 28

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans 
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans 


What is an Integrated Risk Management Plan?
When national standards of fire cover were removed by the 
government in 2004, it became the responsibility of individual UK 
FRSs to evidence how they intended to identify, manage and 
respond to the risks within the communities they served.  It is a legal 
requirement for every Fire Authority to produce a publicly available 
IRMP covering at least a three-year time span. 

The requirements of an IRMP are set out in the ‘Fire and Rescue 
National Framework for England 2018’, which states that each 
authority must ensure the following five priorities are met:

1.    To be accountable to communities for the service they  
       provide; 

2.    To identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire 
       and rescue related risks their areas face;

3.    To make appropriate provision for fire prevention and 
       protection activities and response to fire and rescue
       related incidents;

4.    To develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, 
       resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse.

5.    To collaborate with emergency services and other 
       local and national partners to increase the efficiency 
       and effectiveness of the service they provide;

The National Framework also says that IRMPs have a statutory 
responsibility to include a number of areas. These are summarised 
below.

Reflect up-to-date risk analyses of all foreseeable fire 
and rescue related risks that could affect the area of the 
authority;

      Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response 
      activities will best be used to prevent fires and other 
      incidents and mitigate the impact of identified risks on its
      communities;

•    Outline required service delivery outcomes including the 
      allocation of resources for the mitigation of risks;

•  Set out its management strategy and risk-based 
      programme for enforcing the provisions of the   
      Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order (RRO) 2005;

• Cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed 
     and revised as often as is necessary;

• Reflect effective consultation throughout its development 
     and at all review stages with the community, its workforce 
     and representative bodies and partners; and 

• Be easily accessible and publicly available.

CDDFRS published a three-year plan in 2017 to cover the period 
up to March 2020.  The purpose of this document is to meet the 
statutory requirements listed above for the next three years. 
We will monitor progress and review the measures set out in this 
document on an annual basis to ensure the IRMP process is fully 
integrated into our overall strategic planning process.

Page | 4

P
age 29



Our vision is simple:
We want to have the safest people and the safest places.

To respond effectively to the challenges that we face as an FRS, 
we need to be clear on our strategic direction. A defined vision, 
strategic priorities, values and behaviours are key to us doing 
this. During 2016/17, we undertook a full review of these, which 
resulted in the following:

Our strategic priorities: 
The Authority is focussed on identifying, assessing and managing 
risks while ensuring that resources are allocated efficiently and 
effectively to reduce the number of emergency incidents and 
the associated risk of injury or death across our Service area. 

To help us to achieve our vision, we have six strategic priorities: 

Our values:
These values are known in our organisation as the PIE values 
and describe the ethos of CDDFRS. 

Professional Innovative Effective

Our commitment to you is that we will always aim to 
be the best FRS in the UK. In order to achieve this there are 
certain behaviours that we expect from our staff. How well 
our staff are demonstrating these behaviours as part of their 
day to day job is assessed within our bespoke appraisal 
system.

The range of these behaviours falls into four areas, known as 
the 4Cs:

How we approach 
challenges
We will approach 
challenges with 
flexibility, enthusiasm 
and motivation, passion, 
determination and 
resilience.

How we conduct 
ourselves 

We will conduct 
ourselves in a manner 
that is honest, 
trustworthy, reliable, 
accountable, consistent 
and respectful.

How we collaborate 
with others 

We will be approachable, 
supportive, encouraging 
and inclusive, and value 
development when 
collaborating.

How we drive change 
across the organisation to 
make a difference 

We will drive change 
by being creative, 
resourceful, courageous, 
original, clear and 
focused.

Page | 5

Vision & Values

P
age 30



About our Service area
We look after the areas of County 
Durham and Darlington, which cover 
approximately 939 square miles with 
a population of 630,009, and protect 
285,135 households and around 18,628 
business premises.

We have 15 fire stations spread across 
five districts, as can be seen in the map 
opposite. These districts are Darlington, 
Derwentside, Durham, Easington and 
Wear and Tees, all of which come with 
their own unique challenges and risks.

We border four other FRSs (North 
Yorkshire, Cumbria, Northumberland 
and Tyne & Wear) and one Fire Brigade 
(Cleveland), and provide mutual cross-
border support to one another if and 
when required.

All of our emergency calls are 
received by our fire control operators 
based in our control room at Service 
headquarters in Belmont. They then 
assess the risks before mobilising a pre-
determined set of resources, or where 
necessary, send the additional engines 
and specialist appliances that are 
required to deal with the incident.

Page | 6

P
age 31



Health 
Life expectancy has 
improved for males 
(78.1) but reduced 
slightly for females 

(81.4) - both are still 
behind the England 

average.

Social Isolation
In County Durham, 
estimates suggest 
that around 22,000 

people aged 
18-64 are socially 

isolated (7%).

Children
Within our area, the 

level of child poverty is 
worse than the England 

average (20.1%), 
with 23.9% of children 

under 16 years living in 
poverty (2014).

Adults
The number of 
people aged 

65 and over has 
increased by 26.4% 

between 2001 
to 2015, rising to 

103,400 residents.

Mental Health 
 The number of 

adults assessed with 
mental health needs 
increased by 34.1% 
between 2010/11 

and 2015/16.

Dementia 
 Estimates 

suggest that over 
6,600 people in 
County Durham 
aged 65+ have 

dementia.

Page | 7

About our communities
We recognise that we can only provide an effective service to our 
communities if we understand the diversity within them and enable our 
workforce to meet their needs and concerns.

Our CRP highlights the challenges faced by the public relating to deprivation, 
health and wellbeing, as well as the make-up of the demographic in relation 
to age, gender and ethnicity.

Our rural communities cover a significant geographical proportion of the 
Service area, with some individuals extremely hard to reach and therefore at 
more risk of vulnerability, which is why we deliver our service in the way we 
do.

We know that living in isolation can have a negative impact on a person’s 
health and wellbeing. We have also witnessed first-hand how poor-quality 
housing can exacerbate a range of underlying health conditions, from falls 
and poor mental health to hoarding and excessive alcohol and substance 
misuse.

Health inequalities remain persistent and pervasive, with levels of deprivation 
being significantly higher and life expectancy lower than the national 
average. 

Our commitment to you is that we will reduce the risks to vulnerable 
people in our communities by operating a mutual referral pathway with 
partner agencies. We aim to identify and target the most vulnerable 
members of our communities with the highest proportion of our safe and 
wellbeing visits (SWV) aimed at these individuals. 

Recent examples of this include the use of a number of datasets associated 
with elevated risk. This involves profiling geographical areas, businesses, 
dwellings and individuals by combining data from past incident activity and 
other demographic data such as age, deprivation and lone households.

We will continue to receive high-risk and safeguarding referrals from partner 
agencies such as community nurses, social workers, carers and social housing 
providers that work in the communities on a daily basis and are therefore in a 
unique position to signpost vulnerable individuals to us.

P
age 32



Reaching our most vulnerable people and property

In order to determine those members of our communities that are most 
susceptible to having a fire within their home, we use the Dwelling Fire 
Risk Analysis Pyramid below (see our CRP for more detail). 

This innovative methodology uses a range of datasets that allows us to 
assess people and property in terms of risk levels, with level one being 
the most vulnerable, and level five the least. This analysis ensures we 
focus our SWVs in the right areas, to the right people, at the right time.

Our commitment to you is that at least 80% of all SWVs are 
targeted towards the most vulnerable members of the community 
whilst also ensuring that those residents deemed to be at greater risk as 
a result of a SWV will be revisited within a 12 month period.

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018) 
states that Fire and Rescue Authorities must make provision 
for promoting fire safety, including fire prevention. In order 
to do this we have a management strategy that includes 
a locally determined risk-based inspection programme for 
enforcing compliance with the RRO. These inspections are 
carried out by our central Business Fire Safety team and 
operational crews depending on the level of risk.

When aiming to keep business premises safe from fire, 
we adopt a cyclical process that we call the Business 
Identification Process above, (see our CRP for more detail).

Our commitment to you is that we will identify and 
engage with local businesses to ensure the appropriate 
levels of fire safety measures are in place through the use 
of a number of different sources of information as well as 
regularly inspecting business premises. 

Page | 8

Dwellings

Business Premises

P
age 33



How are we performing?

Page | 9

Prevention and Protection
Community Safety

Within the last three years, we delivered almost 60,000 SWVs, 
98% of which were completed by our operational crews;

84% of these visits were targeted towards high-risk people or 
places, of which 2,173 were referrals from partner agencies;

As a result of the SWVs, we made 3,027 onward lifestyle 
referrals to our partners in health.

Business Fire Safety
We carried out 6,378 fire safety audits between Apr 16 and Mar 
19, 86% of which were completed by our operational crews;

1,337 business regulation consultations took place during 
the same period, while we also reviewed 631 licensing 
applications.

Fire Hydrants
On average, our operational crews carried out 5,617 
inspections of fire hydrants on an annual basis.

The total number of emergency calls that we have received 
within the last three years is 50,258, which equates to an 
average of 16,753 each year;

Deliberate fires accounted for 8,007 of the overall number of 
incidents. Breaking it down even further, 1,493 were primary 
fires, while 6,514 were secondary fires;

We attended 701 accidental dwelling fires (ADFs) during the 
same period – these resulted in three deaths and 58 injuries 
that required hospital treatment;

There were 354 fires in commercial premises, which resulted in 
only four injuries requiring hospital treatment;

We responded to 1,004 Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs)between 
Apr 16 and Mar 19;

The total number of false alarms we received was 7,052. Of this 
number, 2,279 were caused by automatic fire alarms within 
commercial premises, whereas 254 were malicious in nature;

Special Service calls account for 3,488 incidents, with some 
of the most frequent incidents involving gaining entry into 
property, assisting other agencies and flooding.

Click here for more detailed information on our performance over 
the last three years: https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/performance

The Fire Authority regularly monitors the performance of the organisation through the Service’s Performance and 
Programme Board. Our commitment to you is that we will track performance using a mix of performance and 
management indicators, which are set against localised targets. 

Response

P
age 34

 https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/performance


Page | 10

Achievements and Innovation
The Service is immensely proud of the fact that it has led the way nationally with 
an award-winning Firefighter Apprenticeship Scheme, which was launched in 
2017. 

In 2018, the Service welcomed its second cohort of Apprentice Firefighters, who 
completed their first year in August 2019, with a third cohort beginning their 
journey on the scheme in September 2019.

The scheme itself was recognised at the Training Journal Awards in London, 
being named as The Best Apprenticeship Scheme in the UK, while the Service 
remained one of the Top 100 employers of Apprentices in the UK and the only 
blue light service to feature in the list. 

2018 also saw the development and launch of 
our Career Progression Framework to develop 
staff, horizontally as well as vertically into 
effective and supportive leaders.

The Service is a Disability Confident Employer 
and holds the Better Health at Work Award 
at Continuing Excellence status, which 
demonstrates our commitment to the wellbeing 
of our workforce. Meanwhile, we are also proud 
to have signed the Armed Services Covenant 
and are currently working towards Gold status.   

2019 also saw the Service win Fire & Rescue 
Service of Year at the iESE Public Sector 
Transformation Awards, reflecting the hard work 
and commitment of every member of staff within 
CDDFRS.

Our commitment to you is that we will 
continue to strive for excellence in everything 
we do through encouraging our staff to achieve 
through innovation.

P
age 35



Governance

1.

Page | 11

Our CFA consists of 25 elected councillors; 21 from Durham County 
Council (DCC) and four from Darlington Borough Council (DBC). 
The Authority is the legal body with the statutory duties and 
responsibilities for: 

Ensuring the Service is effective and efficient;

Setting the strategic direction, policies and procedures of the 
Service;

Holding the Chief Fire Officer to account. 

The fire authority has a number of subcommittees with delegated 
powers that look at specific areas such as the finances of the fire 
authority.

Our commitment to you is that we will provide additional 
scrutiny in a range of areas, including health and safety, 
prevention, protection, equality and diversity, as well as young 
people through having representatives from the fire authority as 
member champions within specific areas.

We have representatives on all 14 of the Area Action Partnerships 
in the service area, who link directly with elected members and 
community representatives across County Durham and Darlington.

We publish our Annual Governance Statement; Statement 
of Accounts and Performance as well as all of our other 
strategic documents on our website for the public to scrutinise:             
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/financial-governance

The annual Statement of Assurance aims to provide the necessary 
accountability and transparency to the people of County Durham 
and Darlington, and evidence that their FRS continues to deliver under 
the expectations detailed within both the ‘Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England 2018’ and our own IRMP process.  

It also details the measures taken to assure our communities that the 
CFA’s performance is efficient and effective in relation to finance 
and governance.  It measures operational assurance to demonstrate 
that our services are delivered in line with our statutory responsibilities 
and with due regard to the expectations set out in our IRMP, including 
cross-border, multi-authority and national incident arrangements. 

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/statement-assurance

In July 2017, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) 
extended its remit to include inspections of all 45 FRSs in England (now 
known as HMICFRS). 

The HMICFRS assessment examines the Service’s effectiveness, 
efficiency and how well it looks after its people. It is designed to give 
you information about how your local FRS is performing in these three 
key areas, in a way that is comparable with other FRSs across England.

The inspection process for CDDFRS was conducted during the summer 
of 2019 and the findings are published on the inspectorate website, 
which can be viewed here:

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/fire-and-rescue-
services/

Our commitment to you is to act upon these findings to ensure 
we continue to provide the best possible fire and rescue service we 
can to the communities of County Durham and Darlington. 

How are we accountable to 
communities for the service we 
provide?

Locally 

Nationally

Statement of Assurance

P
age 36

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/financial-governance
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/statement-assurance


How we identify risk

2.

Page | 12

Community Risk Identification ProcessHow do we identify and 
assess the full range of 
foreseeable fire and 
rescue related risks our 
areas face?

When determining how we identify risk, we 
do so through consideration of a number of 
key documents, all of which feed into our 
‘Community Risk Identification Process’ detailed 
opposite. We consult with partner agencies 
and other responder organisations to help us to 
better understand the risks in our community.

Our CRP provides an in-depth piece of research 
and analysis of the incidents we have attended 
over previous years, and the risk of emergency 
incidents occurring in the future. 

Our commitment to you is that we will 
provide an overview of those risks identified and 
where each risk sits in terms of severity, which 
in turn will allow us to plan how to utilise our 
resources in the most effective way to save lives, 
improve public safety and reduce emergency 
incidents.  

The first stage of our risk assessment methodology 
used within the CRP is to identify incidents that 
can cause harm to the people, environment 
and economy within our communities, using 
various data sources and tools. 

We utilise a nationally recognised risk assessment 
matrix based on a reasonable worst-case 
scenario, with an assessment of a possible upper 
and lower range in order to come to definitive 
scoring.

P
age 37



How we manage and respond to risk

Page | 13

Prevention and Protection (Proactive)
Our commitment to you is that we will continue to do a 
significant amount of proactive work to prevent adverse events 
from happening and as a result, reduce the risk to our communities.

Our community safety activities cover a broad range of risks  
detailed within our CRP. Meanwhile, our Business Fire Safety work 
involves us visiting commercial premises to conduct fire safety 
audits, as well as consulting on building regulations and licensing 
applications where necessary.

Our commitment to 
you is that if and when an 
event does occur, we will be 
fully prepared to respond in 
order to mitigate any impact 
caused. 

The Service has a Corporate 
Risk Register that looks at 
risks to our business (service 
provision and financial). 
These risks are monitored 
with measures put in place 
to ensure we can fulfil our 
role as an FRS protecting 
the communities of County 

We manage the risk to our communities in several different ways, which can be broadly categorised as:

Durham and Darlington. 
Where areas of risk are 
identified, they are included 
in and addressed through 
one of our strategic priorities.  
The purpose of these priorities 
is to define a simple practical 
framework to manage risk, 
while highlighting how the 
Service intends to mitigate 
these risks on an ongoing 
basis through a detailed 
action plan.

Although the Service makes 
every effort to avoid incidents 

from occurring through its 
proactive work, we are also 
realistic in acknowledging 
that we will always be 
required to respond to 
emergency incidents. Where 
this is necessary, however, 
we ensure control measures 
are in place to mitigate the 
impact on everyone involved.

Through this process, we are 
committed to evaluating 
and reviewing all of our work, 
implementing continuous 
improvements along the way.

Response (Reactive)

P
age 38



What are the risks we have identified?

Page | 14

Every year, we experience fires in 
people’s homes that are devastating 
for those people involved and can 
cause injury and death.  

Every year, we experience fires in 
places such as offices, factories, 
commercially operated residential 
premises, heritage buildings and 
waste disposal sites. 

Domestic dwelling 
fires 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews 

Identify those people most 
at risk/vulnerable

Conduct SWVs, fit smoke 
alarms and provide fire-
retardant equipment

Refer people to other 
agencies where 
vulnerability is identified

Arson reduction and fire 
setter interventions

Attend national events to 
establish best practice

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to dwelling fires

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond to 70% of all 
dwelling fires within eight 
minutes

Provide advice after the 
fire and carry out hot strikes

Utilise support, if required, 
from Red Cross Fire Victim 
Support Teams

Investigate the cause of 
fires at the appropriate 
level in partnership with the 
police

Where appropriate, submit 
post-incident safeguarding 
referrals

Conduct performance-
management processes to 
identify trends in incidents 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews 

Use data to understand 
which premises present the 
highest risks

Deal with complaints and 
enquiries

Carry out fire safety audits 
to ensure compliance with 
the RRO

Adopt a continuous re-
inspection programme 
based on risk levels

Use enforcement action 
where required

Work with businesses to 
ensure they keep their 
premises safe

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to these types of 
incidents  

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond to 70% of all non-
domestic property fires 
within eight minutes

Investigate the cause of 
fires at the appropriate 
level in partnership with the 
police

Carry out post-fire audits to 
offer advice

Consider enforcement 
action where necessary

Deal with complaints

Charge businesses for 
Unwanted Fire Alarms

Work with partners to 
mitigate the impact of 
these incidents  on the 
environment

Ensure we have secured 
appropriate water 
supplies, to aid firefighting

Non-domestic properties including 
heritage risks and waste disposal sites

What are the risks we have identified?

P
age 39



Page | 15

Widespread flooding can devastate 
parts of the community and leaves 
an impression for years beyond an 
event.  We have also seen some 
tragic drownings in our waterways 
over the years. 

Deaths and serious injuries on the 
road affect County Durham and 
Darlington  residents each year. 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Develop flood plans and 
provide operational risk 
information crews

Work with partners to 
prepare for flood risk

Campaign to members 
of the public to educate 
them about the dangers 
posed by bodies of water

Work closely with the 
Environment Agency (EA) 
to share ideas

Make a specialist water 
rescue team available 
to respond locally and 
nationally

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to water related 
incidents

Reactive measures
We will:

Work with partners to 
protect and maintain 
critical infrastructure in 
times of flooding

Prioritise and respond to 
domestic flooding calls 
and assist if appropriate

Deploy a specialist water 
rescue team to perform 
rescues and evacuation 
of people affected by 
flooding

Work with other agencies 
to help to protect areas at 
immediate risk of flooding

Deploy High Volume 
Pumps, where appropriate, 
to areas most affected

Where appropriate, assist 
other agencies during 
missing persons searches

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews 

Work with our key strategic 
partners to reduce risk 
through education

Utilise local and national 
data sets on RTC numbers 
and type

Train RTC ambassadors to 
campaign locally

Attend national and local 
working groups that share 
best practice

Provide crews with the 
latest technology to meet 
the modern methods of 
vehicle construction

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to RTCs

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond to 75% of life-risk 
RTCs within 11 minutes

Respond with appropriate 
resources to RTCs to effect 
rescue, mitigate the risk 
from fire and other related 
risks, and assist partners in 
resolving the incident

Respond to non-life risk 
RTCs on request to help to 
make the scene safe

Road Traffic Collisions 
(RTCs)

Flooding and water rescue 

P
age 40



Page | 16

Hazardous materials can present 
a risk to the public from a range of 
sources including road transport, 
industrial sites and malicious use by 
terrorists or organised criminal groups. 

The UK faces a serious and sustained 
threat from terrorism. In regard to 
major public events, there are a 
number held locally that attract large 
crowds of people into concentrated 
areas. 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work with industry to 
ensure safe practices

Conduct fire safety audits 
of premises across the 
Service area

Work with the police to 
understand the threat from 
terrorism and organised 
criminality

Exercise and train with our 
partners to prepare for a 
range of eventualities

Train a range of tactical 
advisors to provide expert 
advice

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to these types of 
incidents

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond with specialist 
equipment and personnel 
to help to resolve the 
incident

Seek specialist advice from 
national centres where 
required

Work with partners to 
mitigate the impact of 
hazardous materials on the 
environment

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work with the police to 
understand the threat from 
terrorism

Be ready to respond 
nationally to events 
outside of the Service area

Learn from similar events 
of this nature that have 
occurred both within the 
UK and internationally

Train a range of tactical 
advisors and commanders 
to provide expert advice

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to these types of 
incidents

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond with 
appropriately trained and 
equipped specialist teams 
to effect rescue and 
casualty care for victims

Use fire crews to support 
the work of specialist 
teams where appropriate

Seek specialist advice from 
national centres where 
required

Deploy National Incident 
Liaison Officers to provide 
a unified approach with 
key partners

Ensure measures are in 
place to support staff 
welfare post-incident

Malicious attacks, terrorist 
incidents and major public events 

Hazardous materials and 
industrial incidents 

P
age 41



Page | 17

Fires and accidents on the 
transport network not only present 
an immediate threat to life and 
property, but can also have a long-
lasting impact on infrastructure and 
our communities. 

Incidents at heights could occur 
in many different formats and 
anywhere  across the Service area. 
The dangerous nature of dealing with 
such incidents leads to an increased 
risk of injury to anyone involved. 

Air and rail incidents 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work with our partners to 
help to improve safety 
within the transport 
industry

Understand the main flight 
paths and rail networks 
within our area

Conduct operational 
exercises at high-risk sites/
locations

Collect information and 
develop plans on our 
highest transport risks so 
that we are prepared to 
respond

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our training 
in relation to air and rail 
incidents we attend

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond to incidents with 
sufficient resources to 
effect rescue, deal with 
fire and other hazards, and 
assist with casualties

Request support of 
specialist fire and rescue 
teams such as Urban 
Search and Rescue where 
appropriate

Work in partnership to 
mitigate the impact 
of such incidents and 
facilitate recovery

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work closely with partner 
agencies such as 
mountain rescue, coast 
guard and other FRSs

Provide a specialist 
capability to respond 
to the most challenging 
rescues

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to height rescues 

Reactive measures
We will:

Deploy specialist line 
rescue teams supported 
by additional fire crews to 
effect rescues

Utilise specialist engines 
such as the aerial ladder 
platform to assist with 
rescues 

Work in partnership to 
assist with the resolution of 
incidents

Support other agencies to 
assist vulnerable persons 
involved in height incidents

Height 

P
age 42



Page | 18

Wildfires can quickly escalate 
and spread across large areas, 
causing major disruption to life, 
property and infrastructure. 

County Durham and Darlington has a 
mining history that has left parts of the 
area at high risk from structural collapse. 
There are also risks posed at incidents 
where buildings are damaged by fire or 
explosion.  Incidents of this nature can 
be life-threatening and disruptive to the 
community. 

Wildfire 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work with landowners and 
responsible authorities 
to reduce the risk of 
widespread wildfires

Promote the potential 
dangers of starting fires 
in rural locations such as 
barbeques or campfires

Train our staff to provide 
expert advice

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to  wildfires 

Reactive measures
We will:

Deploy appropriate 
resources to contain and 
extinguish wildfires

Deploy specialist wildfire 
personnel and equipment 
as appropriate

Request assistance from 
other agencies and 
organisations for specialist 
equipment as required

Consider mutual aid 
requests where necessary 
to assist with large or 
protracted incidents

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Engage with building 
control to understand 
where the risks are within 
our communities

Work closely with the 
national resilience USAR 
capability

Utilise derelict buildings to 
carry out training

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work 
in relation to building 
collapse

Reactive measures
We will:

Deploy appropriate 
resources and personnel to 
effect rescue and secure 
unstable structures, where 
appropriate

Request the support of 
specialist fire and rescue 
teams such as Urban 
Search and Rescue if 
required

Work with partners to 
provide advice and 
additional equipment to 
aid incident resolution

Building collapse 

P
age 43



Page | 19

Many of these incident types have a 
significant community impact, as well 
as being a drain on the fire service 
resource that could be deployed 
elsewhere. 

As a predominantly rural area, we are 
inevitably called to incidents where 
animals are in distress. 

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Provide dedicated arson 
reduction staff to reduce 
the number of deliberate 
fires

Work with partners to 
reduce the burden on all 
agencies

Work with authorities to 
prosecute those guilty of 
arson or deliberate fire-
setting

Develop and evaluate 
campaigns, education 
packages and initiatives

Utilise data analysis 
software to highlight 
hotspot areas

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work in 
relation to  primary and 
secondary fires

Reactive measures
We will:

Consider the deployment 
of targeted response 
vehicles, where 
appropriate, to reduce the 
demand on other front-line 
resources

Conduct arson/ 
environmental audits with 
partners in areas subject to 
high operational activity

Investigate the causes of 
fires in partnership with the 
police

Conduct Service-wide 
and local performance 
management measures 
to help to identify problem 
areas or trends

Proactive measures
We will:

Provide equipment and 
training for crews

Work with partner 
agencies to keep animals 
safe in the service area

Maintain a specialist 
animal-rescue capability

Attend national and 
regional learning events to 
share best practice

Learn from specialist vets in 
how to deal with different 
types of animals

Conduct regular 
evaluation of our work 
to reduce the number of  
animal rescues we attend

Reactive measures
We will:

Respond with specialist 
animal rescue teams to 
effect rescue

Work in partnership with 
other agencies to help to 
resolve incidents

Request other specialist 
teams and equipment as 
needed to assist with the 
incident

Seek specialist advice 
where required

Work with partners to 
mitigate the impact of 
disruption to the public 
from animals on our roads

Animal rescuePrimary and secondary fires 
other than buildings 

P
age 44



Prevention, protection and response

Page | 20

3.How do we make 
appropriate 
provision for 
fire prevention 
and protection 
activities and 
response to fire 
and rescue-
related incidents?

Our commitment to you is 
that we will demonstrate how 
our prevention, protection and 
response activities address the fire 
and rescue-related risks that have 
been identified during our IRMP 
process in greater detail. We have 
a number of key strategies in place 
that outline the measures we will 
put in place and actions we intend 
to take to ensure we are doing 
everything we can to keep our 
communities safe.

P
age 45



Page | 21

In line with our identified risks, our Community Safety Strategy will 
target the most vulnerable people and those at higher risk in our 
community. To meet Section 6 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 
2004, we work with partners to focus on the following key areas:

Reduce fire deaths and injuries in the home through targeting 
the most vulnerable while continuing to develop our SWVs;

Reduce the number of arson and deliberate fires being 
set through the provision of a dedicated team to focus on 
reduction and fire-setting initiatives;

Strengthen our partnerships with other agencies to ensure best 
practice is achieved;

Continue to evaluate and improve our campaigns by learning 
from others;

Work on initiatives to improve water safety, especially in our 
hotspot areas; 

Continue to educate young people and develop our Fire 
Cadet schemes.

For more detailed information, see the Community Safety   
Strategy and the associated action plans: https://www.ddfire.gov.
uk/service-plans

Community Safety Strategy

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018) gives 
us a statutory obligation to enforce fire safety legislation under the 
RRO. We are fully committed to this, which is why our Business Fire 
Safety Strategy will focus on the following key areas:

Continue to reassess our delivery model to ensure we have 
the correct level of resources in place to fulfil our statutory 
obligations;

Ensure we are fully focused on legislative compliance to assist 
us with keeping businesses and their employees safe;

Conduct detailed risk profiling of business premises to ensure 
they are visited by our team in a timely manner;

Adopt national fire investigation standards and practices to 
make sure what we do is correct while also protecting us from 
challenge;

Work with partner agencies to develop how we approach fire 
investigation, train our staff and best utilise our fire investigation 
search dog.

For more detailed information, see the Business Fire Safety Strategy 
and the associated action plans: https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/
service-plans

Business Fire Safety and Fire Investigation 
Strategy

P
age 46

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


In line with our identified risks, our Assets Strategy will focus on the 
following key areas:

Modern community fire stations and other buildings across the 
service area;

Deliver modern ICT services that are secure, flexible and 
maximise efficiency and effectiveness; 

Deliver the right type of service vehicles in line with local risk 
and our capital replacement programme;

Identify innovation opportunities for new technologies and 
capabilities.

Ensure all of our staff have access to the best equipment, 
uniform and Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).

In line with our identified risks, our Assurance Strategy will focus on 
the following key areas:

Provide a framework of internal audit and external assurance 
across all Service sections; 

Seek continuous improvement to Service health and safety 
performance;

Ensure the Service has appropriate business continuity 
arrangements in place.

For more detailed information, see the Assets and Assurance 
Strategy and the associated action plans: https://www.ddfire.
gov.uk/service-plans

Page | 22

In line with our identified risks, our Emergency Response Strategy 
will focus on the following key areas:

Continually review the disposition and range of available 
personnel and resources; 

Offer our Retained Duty System (RDS) support and 
development to fulfil their role;

Ensure we are fully prepared for national resilience 
response;

Ensure we are fully prepared to respond within our own 
Service area;

Provide suitable and sufficient risk information;

Make sure robust operational assurance is in place;

Review and adopt National Operational Guidance (NOG);

Plan for major incidents through testing and exercising.

See also ‘How we allocate resource to risk’ on page 27.

For more detailed information, see the Emergency Response 
Strategy and the associated action plans: https://www.ddfire.
gov.uk/service-plans

Emergency Response Strategy Assets and Assurance Strategy

P
age 47

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Our workforce

Page | 23

Workforce Development 
Strategy

4.How do we develop 
and maintain a 
workforce that is 
professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and 
diverse?

We employ in the region of 565 staff, with the 
majority of our workforce employed in an 
operational capacity.  Our Workforce Plan 
identifies the strategic challenges faced by our 
staff and the actions we will undertake to meet 
those challenges.  

As an employer, our aim is to develop a diverse 
workforce and ensure that our PIE values and 
behavioural framework help us to develop a 
working environment where everyone can feel 
engaged, valued and respected, whatever their 
background.  

We invest in organisational development 
ensuring that our staff have the required 
skills, competencies and behaviours to meet 
challenges now and in the future.

In line with our identified risks, our Workforce 
Development Strategy will focus on the following 
key areas:

Ensure our workforce has the capacity, 
structure and sustainability to meet our future 
needs;

Develop leaders who can 
perform in managerial and 
strategic roles and work 
effectively with partners;

Ensure our workforce is highly 
trained in order to fulfil the 
vast array of demands placed 
upon them;

Develop clear, consistent 
and structured talent 
management processes to 
ensure we can make use of 
skill sets across all areas;

Provide support for the 
fitness and wellbeing of our 
workforce and reward positive 
performance;

Support the development of a 
positive and inclusive culture 
that encourages continuous 
improvement;

For more detailed information, 
see the Workforce Development 
Strategy and the associated 
action plans: https://www.ddfire.
gov.uk/service-plans

P
age 48

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


How do we collaborate?

Page | 24

Collaboration Strategy

5. How do we 
collaborate with 
emergency services 
and other local and 
national partners to 
increase the efficiency 
and effectiveness of 
the service that we 
provide?

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 introduced 
a duty upon all three emergency services 
to collaborate in the interests of improved 
efficiency or effectiveness.

In County Durham and Darlington, we have 
several collaborative arrangements in place 
between our Service and other emergency 
services.

We have joint governance structures with 
Durham Constabulary and also with other 
regional FRSs.  This is to ensure collaboration 
is considered at both a strategic and 
tactical level.

We will continually assess our collaborative 
arrangements to ensure that they provide 
either improved value for money – which 
ensures our services are more cost-effective 
– or result in improved outcomes. This will 
then ensure a better service is provided, 
including a reduction in the level of risks 

and/or demand within our communities to 
ensure the public are safer while living and 
working in County Durham and Darlington. This 
assessment is recorded in our collaboration 
register.

Our Collaboration Strategy is to identify willing 
strategic partners who have a compelling 
common purpose for collaboration to 
ensure mutual commitment is given towards 
shared goals.  Although we have a duty 
to collaborate, we will only do so when it 
provides benefit to your FRS as outlined above.

Durham Constabulary, the Great North Air 
Ambulance Service (GNAAS), Hazardous Area 
Response Team (HART) and other partners use 
our state-of-the-art training centre at Bowburn, 
and we share several of our Service estates’ 
premises with Durham Constabulary.

In Barnard Castle, we have built the only 
Quad emergency service station in the 
country, housing Fire, Police, Ambulance and 
Mountain Rescue personnel. This has provided 
greater opportunities for emergency service 
interaction and is a central emergency service 
point for this rural community.

Furthermore, our Tri-Service responders, who 
provide joint cover for CDDFRS, Durham 
Police and the North East Ambulance Service 
at Stanhope, are an innovative way of 
responding to emergencies.

For more detailed information, see the 
Collaboration Strategy and the associated 
register: https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-
plans

P
age 49

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


How do we manage our finances? 

Page | 25

Medium Term Financial Plan
Since 2010, the Service has managed a 
£7.8m reduction in government funding 
without impacting on fire cover until 2019. 
Our 2019/20 revenue budget is now almost 
£3m less than it was in 2010. 

We, along with other public sector 
organisations, face an uncertain financial 
future. We will always plan ahead in order to 
ensure we can balance the budget over the 
medium term, taking account of our planned 
expenditure and future levels of government 
and local funding. 

Our current MTFP covers the period 
from 2019/20 to 2022/23, and has been 
calculated based on the assumption that 
government funding will continue to reduce 
by 5% each year, council tax will increase 

by 3% in 2019/20 and 2% each year 
thereafter, and pay awards and inflation 
will increase by 2% each year. Based on 
these assumptions, we have a significant 
shortfall in funding from 2020/21 onwards.

In order to balance the budget, we need 
to identify £1.531m of savings over the 
MTFP period. 

To achieve this, we have undertaken a 
full review of our emergency response 
provision and have identified savings 
options for implementation over the MTFP 
period. 

Following robust analysis of the potential 
impact of our proposals, we believe that 
these options will have the least impact on 

the level of risk within County Durham and 
Darlington. It is our policy to trial options 
in the year prior to implementation to 
receive feedback from staff and to 
ensure that they are workable before 
proceeding to full implementation. 

In addition to changes to emergency 
response, we are considering 
alternative options including structure 
changes, governance changes and 
further collaboration with the police, 
neighbouring FRSs and other partners.

For more detailed information, see the 
Medium Term Financial Plan link.

P
age 50



Allocating resource to risk

Page | 26

Who are our people?
Our workforce is made up of the following:

254 wholetime firefighters / 168 RDS firefighters;

40 other operational staff, including those based at 
headquarters and flexible duty officers;

19 fire control operators;

78 corporate staff.

Where do they work?
They are based out of our 15 fire stations (see map 
opposite), our Service headquarters in Belmont and a 
training centre and technical services centre located in 
Bowburn.  

What resources do we have?
We have a fleet of 26 front-line fire engines in addition 
to specialist  engines and a range of off-road four-wheel 
drive vehicles to help to deal with those risks identified 
throughout our IRMP process. These include:

Aerial ladder platforms for performing rescue at 
height;

A specialist rescue unit for RTCs, building collapse 
and animal rescue;

Water rescue boats and flood response units for 
water-related incidents;

A high-volume pump, foam unit and bulk water 
carrier to provide water and foam at large incidents;

Incident response, environmental protection 
units for hazardous material incidents; 

An incident command vehicle and welfare 
unit to support large protracted incidents; 

4x4 targeted response and wildfire
vehicles to provide support to 
the front line and access
hard-to-reach areas.

The distribution of our fire stations across the Service area ensures we are 
able to provide the optimum level of response in those areas deemed 

to be of greatest risk.  Each of the stations are resourced with appliances 
and specialist equipment that match the levels of risk and demand in 

that part of our Service area.

Our commitment to you is that we will allocate 
resources to risk in order to provide the best possible 
service to the community.

P
age 51



national risk related event.

The development of the plan has 
incorporated an in-depth analysis of each 
station area within CDDFRS which includes:

Identifying station staffing systems, 
fixtures and fittings and fuel capacities;

Consideration of other local resources;

Consideration of other local and 
national FRS resources;

Page | 27

Appliance availability
Our maximum appliance availability from 
7am to 7pm is 26 whilst between 7pm and 
7am it is 24.

Degradation plan
Our degradation plan has been designed 
to guide the Service through a range of 
local and national events. The plan covers 
how the Service will deliver emergency 
response through reductions and 
reallocation of personnel, estate and/or 
equipment.

The scope of the plan has been developed 
to incorporate our operational delivery 
needs on a day to day basis, through 
significant local operational events, during 
pandemic flu, power outage and local, 
industrial action as well as any other 

Analysis of four key elements of risk 
Domestic, Business, Infrastructure and 
Natural risks;

Analysis of seventeen elements of 
operational activity.

Following detailed analysis each of our 
station areas is graded in terms of the risk 
level and activity in that locality. A Service 
station hierarchy is then produced which 
forms the basis of where our resources are 
allocated. 

P
age 52



Page | 28

Response standards
Response standards
Our response standards for the next 3 years 
are:

Dwelling fires – we will attend 70% of 
dwelling fires in eight minutes and 90% 
in 11 minutes

Non-domestic property fires – 
we will attend 70% of non-domestic 
property fires in eight minutes and 90% 
in 11 minutes

Our response to dwelling and non-domestic 
property fires has been derived from 
previous national response standards, the 
fire service emergency cover toolkit [FSEC] 
and a four-year study into actual response 
data within CDDFRS.

How we have performed?

Dwelling Fires Non-domestic 
Property Fires

Year 8 mins 11 mins 8 mins 11 mins

2016/17 71.5% 92.5% 56.0% 82.1%

2017/18 66.2% 93.2% 72.3% 86.7%

2018/19 67.6% 87.3% 50% 88.9%

Golden Hour Trauma 
Intervention

RTC’s

Year 11 mins 15 mins

2016/17 81.6% 94%

2017/18 84.7% 95.8%

2018/19 85.8% 95.9%

RTCs – we will attend 75% of RTCs in 11 
minutes and 90% in 15 minutes

Our response to RTCs is based on the 
golden hour intervention model for trauma 
care, where extrication is recommended to 
take place within 15 minutes and no more 
than 45 minutes after the collision occurring 
to maximise the chance of casualty survival.

How we have performed?

P
age 53



Our action plan for the next three years

Page | 29

The significant financial challenges that we face require us 
to continually review the way we deliver our services, so that 
we can continue to provide the best possible FRS within the 
budget that we have available to us.  If our assumptions are 
correct about the further reduction in funding that we receive 
from government and an increase in demand for our services, 
we will face significant pressures over the next three years. 
The number of incidents we are responding to has steadily 
increased whilst the number of firefighters we have to deal 
with them has reduced as can be seen in the diagram below.

If our performance is to continue to improve, it is therefore 
even more important that we:

Continue to innovate to remove bureaucracy, improve 
efficiency and find new ways of working to free up 
capacity;

Explore all opportunities for collaboration that improve 
value for money, improve outcomes and/or reduce risk for 
our communities;

Ensure our resources are allocated in the most appropriate 
way to maximise the impact we can have on the risks that our 
communities face. 

We realise that our staff are our greatest asset, and we need to 
ensure they have the right skills and are available in the right places 
at the right time to carry out their roles effectively. 

Our commitment to you is that we will continually review the 
way that our staff are deployed in order to provide the most efficient 
and effective arrangements for the delivery of our services. We will do 
this while also recognising the particular challenge that recruiting RDS 
firefighters presents to us across certain areas of the Service, which is 
why we will review our recruitment needs and practices to maximise 
fire engine availability.

While reviewing the emergency response part of our Service is 
important, we also intend to do so within a wider framework that 
considers the optimum organisational balance of resources and 
staffing. 

Our commitment to you is that we will regularly review 
and update the equipment that is provided to our firefighters to 
ensure they have the most effective tools to do their job. We will 
continue to consider new technologies and equipment that make 
our emergency response more effective, efficient and safer for 
firefighters.

P
age 54



Our commitment to you is that based on the current 
information available to us, the following proposals will be 
considered in the coming years. The most current risk and demand 
modelling data available at the time and the results from public 
consultation will inform the strengths and impacts of each 
proposal:

In 2020/21, the following options would be 
considered:

Implementing day crewing on a permanent basis at (Newton 
Aycliffe) and (Seaham);

Implementing the 4&2 model at (Durham) on a permanent 
basis if the trial proves successful;

Implementing the change to (Spennymoor) where the day 
crewing engine becomes a wholetime engine on a permanent 
basis if the trial proves successful; 

Introduce a charging system for certain businesses when we 
attend multiple unwanted fire signals to their premises if the trial 
proves successful; 

Review the crewing arrangements at our two appliance RDS 
stations and trial the opportunity of introducing TRVs to these 
stations;

Carry out a further review of the structure at middle and 
strategic manager levels to take account of any opportunities 
that collaboration may present for further efficiencies;

Undertake a further review of the governance arrangements 
for the Fire Authority;

Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration 
projects undertaken with Tyne and Wear FRS and 
Northumberland FRS.    

In 2021/22, the following options would be 
considered:

Implementing the outcomes of the review of the crewing 
arrangements at our two appliance RDS stations and introduce 
TRVs if the trial proves successful;  

Introduce a trial of riding with four at some single-pump 
wholetime stations;

Implement an amended structure at middle and strategic level 
if the review provides appropriate opportunities;

Implement any changes suggested through the governance 
review;

Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration 
projects undertaken with Tyne and Wear FRS and 
Northumberland FRS. 

In 2022/23, the following options would be 
considered:

Implement the changes of riding with four at some single-
pump wholetime stations if the trial proves successful;

Implement any changes suggested through the collaboration 
projects undertaken with Tyne and Wear FRS and 
Northumberland FRS.

Page | 30

P
age 55



Consultation

Page | 31

In order to identify risk we will use a nationally recognised risk 
assessment framework. Once identified we then manage 
these risks using various methods of prevention and protection 
activities while also responding to incidents where necessary, 
and our outstanding performance tells both ourselves and our 
communities that our approach is very successful. 

The challenges we face over the next three years, however, 
will require us to adapt, change, innovate and think differently. 
This is why, within this IRMP, we have outlined a number of 
proposals that we intend to develop as an organisation 
in order to protect local communities and respond to 
emergencies. 

Engagement with the residents of County Durham and 
Darlington and other key stakeholders is vitally important if we 
want to ensure that our community is a safe place to live and 
work. 

Why do we consult?
As a public funded body, it is essential we seek the views 
of the people we serve. Your views will help to shape and 
focus your FRS’s activities for the next three years and inform 
development of the IRMP. We would like to know what you 
think of our proposals contained within this document. 

The more informed we are by your views, the more able we 
are to meet your aspirations and deliver positive outcomes for 
the communities of County Durham and Darlington.

During our annual consultation exercise, we will aim to consult 
with a representative sample of the community we serve. 
This means consulting with as many of the population across 
County Durham and Darlington as possible. Our aim is to 
receive as many responses as we can to ensure the sample 
size is robust, which means we can be confident in the findings 
of the consultation. 

How do we consult?
At the end of every year, we carry out a brief survey. 

This year’s survey asks key questions and is available to complete:

On our website;

On our Twitter feed; 

On our Facebook page;

During our SWVs;

At public events and meetings.

We consult over a period of 12 weeks, with the next set of results 
available in March 2020.

P
age 56



Page | 32

P
age 57



P
age 58



Have your say...
Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 - 2023 
Our 2020 - 2021 Consultation

Safest People, Safest Places

Page 59

Amanda.Stephenson_1
Text Box
Appendix 4

Amanda.Stephenson_2
Text Box




Making sure County Durham and 
Darlington have the safest people 
and safest places is a way of life for 
us. Every emergency call matters, 
every incident is responded to 
with the highest level of care and 
professionalism and we do all we 
can to make homes and businesses 
safer.
We have dealt with significant 
cuts to our service over the last 10 
years and we have responded by 
adapting and innovating to ensure  

that we are always there for you 
when you need us. We will continue 
to do this in the years ahead.
County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service is part of your 
community so getting your views 
is a vital part of helping us to be a 
first class, cost effective service. 
This guide sets out what our plans 
are over the next 12 months and 
we are very keen to hear from you. 
Find out how to take part in this 
year’s consultation at the end of 
this document.

John Robinson
Chair of The Combined Fire Authority

Stuart Errington
Chief Fire Officer

Introduction

Page | 1

Page 60



The role of our Service has evolved 
over recent years, not only do we 
respond to emergencies but we 
also work in the community to 
prevent and protect the public. As 
part of all this work we continually 
assess what risks our communities 
face and then put plans in place 
about how we use our resources 
to manage and respond to those 
risks. 

Our plans will have an impact on 
our Service as a whole and you 
may find that this year there is 
more of an impact in your area. 
As an organisation rooted in 
the communities we serve it is 
important to us to take into account 
what you think about the impact of 
any changes.

You can find our three year plan in 
a document we call the Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (IRMP), 
and we are tasked by government 
to produce this. 

Every year we review this plan 
and this year’s consultation is 
all about 2020/2021. You can 

find the full IRMP at: 

www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans

Why consult?

Page | 2

Page 61

http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Page | 3

A map of our service area

7

8

1

12

14

13

Durham

District key:

Derwentside
Wear and Tees
Darlington
Easington

Page 62



Page | 4

9

6

2
3

45

10

11

15

Our fire stations: 
    Consett
    High Handenhold
    Seaham 
    Peterlee
    Wheatley Hill
    Durham
    Stanhope
    Crook
    Spennymoor
    Sedgefield
    Newton Aycliffe
    Bishop Auckland
    Middleton-In-Teesdale
    Barnard Castle
    Darlington

10
11
12
13
14
15

9

7
6
5
4
3
2
1

8

Page 63



The number of calls 
we received last year 

decreased by

from 16758 to 16326.

We attended 7721 
incidents in 2018 - 2019, a 

We completed 2180 
Business Fire Safety Audits 

in 2018 - 2019, a

 
increase from the  

previous year. 

Safe and Well-
being Visits are 

up from 19563 to 
20134, a

increase from the 
previous year.

Deliberate fires are up 
from 2814 to 3014, a

increase from the           
previous year.

Total injuries 
from accidental 

house fires 
reduced

30%
compared to 
the previous 

year, from 20 to 
14. 

 

3.4%

Our performance in 2018 - 2019

Page | 5

2.9%7.1%

2.6% 

2.1%

reduction in incidents 
from the previous year. 

Page 64



Medium Term Financial Plan 

It is essential that our finances are sustainable so that our Service has the resources it 
needs to do our vital work, now and in the future. This has been more challenging than 
ever over the last few years and in the face of continuing uncertainty over future funding 
arrangements.

Every year we produce a medium-term financial plan – or MTFP – and this reflects the 
money we get from central government and business rates as well as the contribution you 
make through your Council Tax, which equates to approximately £2 per week for a Band 
D Council Taxpayer.

The table below shows the amounts we receive and spend. Our MTFP shows a shortfall 
in funding of £0.460 million in 2020/21, rising to £1.531 million in 2022/23. In order to 
balance our finances we have identified a number of changes to the way we respond to 
emergencies through our Emergency Response Review. This is outlined in more detail on 
page 9.  

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

Net Expenditure 
(This is the money we have to spend) 28,409 28,851 29,520 30,223

Total government funding 9,024 8,573 8,144 7,737

Local business rates 1,409 1,409 1,409 1,409

Council tax 17,865 18,409 18,969 19,546

Surplus on collection fund 0,111 - - -

Total funding 28,409 28,391 28,522 29,692

Shortfall in funding 0 -0,460 -0,998 -1,531

Our finances

Page | 6

W
he

re
 o

ur
 fu

nd
in

g 
co

m
es

 fr
om

Page 65



Last year we asked three questions about how we planned to operate in the future. Over 700 
people across County Durham and Darlington responded to our online survey; this is what they 
told us:

Last year’s consultation results

THE QUESTIONS WE ASKED...

to 
question

to 
question

There were 3 options in question three:

For full details of option 3 visit:

www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans 

and open IRMP 2018-2019

WHAT WE DID...WHAT YOU TOLD US...

Should Bishop Auckland Fire Station run with a crew of six firefighters 
where four firefighters will ride on the fire engine and two firefighters will 
ride on the special rescue unit. 

Should we continue to explore further collaboration opportunties with 
Tyne and Wear and Northumberland Fire and Rescue Services.

We proposed 3 options to change shift patterns at Newton Aycliffe and 
Seaham Fire stations.

78%

83%

52%

SAID

SAID

VOTED FOR

YES

YES

OPTION 3

Page | 7

1

3
1

22
3

3

1

2

We     
Implemented 

the trial at 
Bishop Auckland 

Fire Station 
permanently  

We            
implemented a 
hybrid of Option 
3 on a trial basis 
based on your 

feedback

We explored                
collaboration with 
our colleagues at 

Northumberland and 
Tyne and Wear Fire and 

Rescue Service including 
a joint recruitment 

campaign and training                  
course

We listen and take your views into account 
when plannng for our future. Following last 
years consultation, this is what we did:

Page 66

http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Collaboration opportunities

Every three years we produce a strategic 
plan which helps us to deliver our vision 
of Safest People, Safest Places. As part 
of this we assess all the known risks  
in our area and publish what we call  
an Integrated Risk Management Plan  
(IRMP). We review and publish this 
document every year to ensure that our 
resources are directed to where they are 
most needed. 

You can read the full IRMP on our 
website at:

www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans

The Integrated Risk
Management Plan

Question 1

Do you have any 
comments or suggested 
amendments to our three-
year IRMP document?

?

Page | 8

Page 67

http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Emergency Response Review

Page | 9

As part of our ongoing commitment  
to protect our communities we have 
undertaken a review of how we respond 
to emergencies across the whole Service 
area. This review involved gathering 
details of the risks we face and then 
carrying out an analysis of those risks so 
we can decide how and where to place 
our resources. 
Part of this Emergency Response 
Review saw a trial taking place in 2019 
to help us decide on the best way  
to use our fire response resources. 
This involved looking at the shift 
arrangements at Seaham and Newton 
Aycliffe Stations. 
Firefighters had previously been on a 
system called Day Crewing Plus but we 
were required to review this following  
a legal ruling on the Working Time 
Directive in South Yorkshire. Therefore, 
we have trialled a shift system called Day 
Crewing with full time firefighters on duty 
from 7am to 7pm and on call firefighters 
providing cover at night. 
We also reallocated resources to provide 
full time cover in Spennymoor.
The overall impact of the trials across 
the Service was an improvement in the 
response times to dwelling fires. The 
percentage of non-domestic property 
fires being responded to within the target 
time reduced slightly, as did road traffic 
collisions. The data from the trial showed 
that the overall impact was positive and 
as predicted before the trial commenced.

Question 2

Following our trial, do 
you support our proposal 
to implement the day 
crewing arrangements 
at Seaham and Newton 
Aycliffe on a permanent 
basis from April 2020?

Question 3

Following our trial, do you 
support our proposal to 
implement the crewing 
arrangements at Durham 
and Spennymoor on a 
permanent basis from April 
2020?

?

?

Page 68



Collaboration opportunities

We carry out a thorough assessment of 
community risk so that we can understand 
what we need to respond to. We recognise 
that the risks we face change over time as 
our communities change. Measuring our 
response standards enables us to identify 
our ability to respond effectively based on 
this evolving community risk.
Our response to dwelling and non-domestic 
property fires has been derived from previous 
national response standards, the Fire Service 
Emergency Cover toolkit, known as FSEC, 
and a four year study from 2000-2004 into 
actual response data within County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service.
Our response to road traffic collisions is 
based on the ‘golden hour’ intervention 
model for trauma care, where extrication  
is recommended to take place within 15 
minutes and no more than 45 minutes after 
the collision occurring to maximise the 
chance of casualty survival.
We use a range of measures to capture 
information about the types of incident we 
respond to and continuously update our 
operational guidance and equipment so we 
can provide the best possible service to you.

Response Standards

Page | 10

Question 4

We have maintained our 
response standards based 
on our historical approach 
to responding to incidents. 

Do you support our 
approach to maintain 
these standards or do you 
think we should carry out a 
review?

?

What are our response 
standards?
• We will attend 70% of dwelling fires

within 8 minutes.
• We will attend 90% of dwelling fires

within 11 minutes.
• We will attend 70% of non-domestic

property fires within 8 minutes.
• We will attend 90% of non-domestic

property fires within 11 minutes.
• We will attend 75% of road traffic

collisions within 11 minutes.
• We will attend 90% of road traffic

collisions within 15 minutes.

We have maintained our historical standards 
to allow us to compare our performance year 
on year where we have seen our funding 
reduced.

Page 69



0800 169 5558
FireStoppers.

Arson Reduction

Page | 11

Historically the number of deliberately set 
fires was reducing in the County Durham 
and Darlington area but since 2016/17 
we have seen an increase. We monitor 
fire incidents according to the following 
definitions:

Primary Fires - this term covers fires 
in buildings, vehicles and most outdoor 
structures or any fire involving casualties, 
rescues or fires attended by five or more 
pumping appliances.

Secondary Fires - are reportable fires 
that:
• Were not chimney fires;
• Did not occur at primary locations 

(unless derelict);
• Did not involve casualties, rescues or 

escapes;
• Were attended by four or fewer 

pumping appliances.

Chimney fires - any fires in buildings 
where the fire was contained within the 
chimney structure and did not involve 
casualties, rescues or attendance by five 
or more pumping appliances.
In 2018/19 there were 2534 secondary 
deliberate fires, an increase of 48% since 
2016/17. We now have a team in place 
to help tackle this and part of their role is 
dedicated to working on reducing arson. 
This team supports the work that crews 
are already doing in our communities 
regarding deliberate fires. 
We have launched initiatives such as 
FireStoppers, which asks the public to 
report information on deliberate fires, 
and Phoenix Fire Champions, which 
educates children and helps to tackle 
anti-social behaviour.

Question 5

Given the increase in 
arson that we have 
experienced over the last 
few years do you support 
our intention to reallocate 
some resources into arson 
reduction initiatives? 

?

Page 70



Collaboration opportunities

Our Service carries out Safe and Well-
being Visits as part of our legal duty to 
prevent fires. In 2018/19 we conducted 
over 18,000 Safe and Well-being Visits.
Our Safe and Well-being Visits are 
carried out by trained Fire and Rescue 
staff. During the visit they will do a 
personalised fire hazard assessment 
of your home and fit free smoke alarms 
if needed, as well as offering advice to 
make your home safer. 
We work on the well-being agenda with 
our partner agencies such as the police, 
health, public health services, councils 
and local charities, to identify the people 
who are most at risk, enabling us to 
direct our services to vulnerable people 
as a priority. 
Due to these strong relationships our 
partner agencies can make referrals to 
us where they identify that fire safety 
advice and action may be needed. 
Equally, if we identify that a person is 
vulnerable at one of our visits we can 
refer to the most appropriate agency for 
support.
As a result of our focus on well-being 
and prevention we are seeing a 
reduction in the number of dwelling fires 
attended and fewer injuries to residents.

Safe and Well-being Visits

Page | 12

Question 6

Do you support our 
approach to continue 
to focus our Safe and 
Well-being Visits on 
those people who are at 
greatest risk from fire?

?

Page 71



Charging Businesses for False 
Alarms from Unwanted Fire Signals

Page | 13

False Alarms can be caused by three 
different factors:
• calls from individuals which are made

with genuine intention but turned out
to be incorrect. We record this as a
‘false alarm - good intent’;

• calls from individuals deliberately
providing false information. These are
recorded as ‘false alarm – malicious’;

• where automatic fire alarms operate
due to a mechanical or electrical
fault, or false activation by non-fire
conditions e.g. cooking fumes, dust,
cigarette smoke etc. and the fire
service attend, these are recorded as
‘Unwanted Fire Signals’.

Unwanted Fire Signals occur at business 
premises which includes places such as 
factories, offices, shops, hospitals and 
student accommodation. As a Service 
we recognise the value of fire detection 
systems in protecting people from fire 
and reducing the numbers of fire deaths 
and injuries. Making sure that detection 
equipment is working as it should be is 
the responsibility of the business and we 
want to promote best practice wherever 
we can.
Good practice will also assist us with the 
availability of our operational resources 
meaning that our Fire and Rescue staff 
are on hand for responding to incidents.
Every attendance at an Unwanted Fire 
Signal means our resources aren’t 
available for more serious life threatening 
incidents. 

Legislation allows us to charge 
businesses for multiple Unwanted 
Fire Signals and from 1st April 2019 
we began a trial of the charging 
system. From April to September 
2019 the number of unwanted fire 
signals was 240, a 14% reduction on 
the same period in 2018.

Question 7

Following our trial, do 
you support our proposal 
to introduce a charging 
system for certain 
businesses when we attend 
multiple Unwanted Fire 
Signals to their premises?

?

Page 72



Page | 14

How do I share my views?

Check out our social media feeds 
and look for our survey link: 

 Fill in the question and answer 
booklet and return it to us at 
Service Headquarters: 

CDDFRS Service Headquarters

Belmont Business Park

Durham

DH1 1TW

You can print a copy from our 
website:
www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans

There are many ways you 
can share your views with 
us.
Fill in our online survey:
www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/IRMP20_23 
For more information please visit: 
www.ddfire.gov.uk 

@CDDFRS

@CDDFRS

@CDDFRS

Page | 14

Page 73

http://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/IRMP20_23
http://www.ddfire.gov.uk 
http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Page 74



Have your say...
Question and answer booklet

Safest People, Safest Places

 Integrated Risk Management Plan 2020 - 2023
 Our 2020 - 2021 Consultation

Page 75

Amanda.Stephenson_3
Text Box
Appendix 5



Tell us what you think ...

Question 1

Do you have any comments or suggested amendments to our three-year Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (IRMP) document? 

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

...........................................................................................................................................

...........................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................

Find out more at:
www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
Use our online questionnaire:
www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/IRMP20_23

Or alternatively complete the response sheet below and return it to: 
FAO Governance, CDDFRS HQ, Belmont Industrial Estate, Durham, DH1 1TW

Consultation response sheet

Page 76



Question 5

Given the increase in arson that we have experienced over the last few years 
do you support our intention to reallocate some resources into arson reduction 
initiatives?

Maintain response standards Carry out a review

YES

YES

YES

NO

NO

NO

Question 2

Following our trial, do you support our proposal to implement the day crewing 
arrangements at Seaham and Newton Aycliffe on a permanent basis from April 
2020?

Question 3

Following our trial, do you support our proposal to implement the crewing 
arrangements at Durham and Spennymoor on a permanent basis from April 
2020?

YES

YES

NO

NO

Question 4

We have maintained our response standards based on our historical approach 
to responding to incidents. Do you support our approach to maintain these 
standards or do you think we should carry out a review?

Question 6
Do you support our approach to continue to focus our Safe and Well-being Visits 
on those people who are at greatest risk from fire?

Question 7

Following our trial, do you support our proposal to introduce a charging system 
for certain businesses when we attend multiple Unwanted Fire Signals to their 
premises?

Page 77



Page 78



Have Your Say
Tell us your views on our plans for the Fire and 
Rescue Service

P
age 79

Amanda.Stephenson_4
Text Box
Appendix 6



• We want to know 
what you think 
about our plans 

• From 13th December 2019 to 
6th March 2020 you can take 
part in our consultation

• We will be gathering views 
from our communities

• Look out for upcoming 
consultation events on our 
Facebook and Twitter

Have Your Say

P
age 80



Have Your Say

What is an Integrated Risk Management Plan?

How do we know what risks our communities face?

How will we manage these risks to keep you safe?

P
age 81



• We want to know 
what you think 
about our plans 

Why do we consult?

We plan how to tackle the risks 
our communities face every 
year.

Our plans include deciding 
where and how to use our 
resources.

It is important to us to take into 
account what you think about 
the impact of any changes.

Have Your Say

P
age 82



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£m £m £m £m

Net Expenditure 28,409 28,851 29,520 30,223

Total Government 

Funding

9,024 8,573 8,144 7,737

Local Business Rates 1,409 1,409 1,409 1,409

Council Tax 17,865 18,409 18,969 19.546

Surplus on Collection 

Fund

0,111 0 0 0

Total Funding 28,409 28,391 28,522 28,692

Shortfall 0 -0,460 -0.998 -1.531

Our Finances

The Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 83



Have Your Say
Question 1

Do you have any comments 
or suggested amendments 
to our three-year Integrated 
Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP) document?

You can read the full 
Plan and our 
Community Risk Profile 
at:

https://www.ddfire.gov.
uk/service-plans

Integrated Risk 
Management 
Plan

P
age 84

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Have Your Say
Question 2 & 3

Following our trial, do you 
support our proposal to 
implement the day crewing 
arrangements at Seaham 
and Newton Aycliffe on a 
permanent basis from April 
2020?

Following our trial, do you 
support our proposal to 
implement the crewing 
arrangements at Durham 
and Spennymoor on a 
permanent basis from April 
2020?

Emergency 
Response

P
age 85



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 Emergency Response Trial

Pre Trial Arrangements

Durham Fire Station

2 x Full time Firefighter Appliances

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance

Spennymoor Fire Station

1 x Full time Firefighter Appliance using Day Crewing 

Shift System (8am-5pm, Mon-Fri)

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance during the day

2 x On Call Firefighter Appliance at night (when Day 

Crews are off)

Seaham and Newton Aycliffe Fire Stations

1 x Full time Firefighter Appliance using Day Crewing 

Plus Shift System (24 Hours a Day cover)

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance 24 hours a day

P
age 86



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 Emergency Response Trial

During the Trial arrangements

Durham

1 x Full time Firefighter Appliance

1 x Full time Firefighter Targeted Response Vehicle 

Appliance

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance

Spennymoor

1 x Fulltime Firefighter Appliance

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance

Seaham and Newton Aycliffe

1 x Fulltime Firefighter Appliance using Day Crewing 

Shift System (7am-7pm, 7 days a week)

1 x On Call Firefighter Appliance 24 hours a day

P
age 87



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 Emergency Response Trial 
Outcomes

Service Area

P
age 88



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 Emergency Response Trial 
Outcomes

Predicted Outcomes

P
age 89



Have Your 
Say

2019/20 Emergency Response Trial 
Outcomes

Actual Impact

P
age 90



Have Your Say
Question 4

We have maintained our 
response standards based 
on our historical approach 
to responding to incidents.

Do you support our 
approach to maintain these 
standards or do you think 
we should carry out a 
review?

Response 
Standards

P
age 91



Have Your Say
Question 5

Given the increase in arson 
that we have experienced 
over the last few years do 
you support our intention to 
reallocate some resources 
into arson reduction 
initiatives? 

Arson Reduction

P
age 92



Have Your 
Say

Our initiatives

P
age 93



Have Your Say
Question 6

Safe and Well 
Being Visits

Do you support our 

approach to continue to 

focus our safe and 

wellbeing visits on those 

people who are at greatest 

risk from fire?

P
age 94



Have Your Say
Question 7

Following our trial, do you 
support our proposal to 
introduce a charging system 
for certain businesses when 
we attend multiple 
unwanted fire signals to 
their premises?

False Alarms 
(Unwanted Fire 
Signals)

P
age 95



Have Your 
Say

Our business charging scheme, which 

was trialled in April – September 2019, 

has shown a 14% reduction in 

Unwanted Fire Signals 

P
age 96



How do I share 
my views?

• Visit our website and fill in our online 

survey www.cddfrs.gov.uk

• Check out our twitter feed 

@CDDFRS and look for our survey 

link

• Take a look at our Facebook page @ 

County Durham and Darlington Fire 

and Rescue Service and follow the 

link to our survey

• Fill in the form and return to us at HQ

Have Your Say

P
age 97

http://www.cddfrs.gov.uk/


Thank You

Any questions?

P
age 98



         

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

9 January 2020     

 Draft Safe Durham Partnership Plan 

2020-25 

 

Report of Jane Robinson Corporate Director Adults & Health 
Services, Durham County Council. 

Electoral divisions affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1) The purpose of this report is to present the draft Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan (SDPP) 2020-25 for comment.  The committee will 
receive a presentation at the meeting. The draft plan is attached as 
Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

 
2) Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the responsible 

authorities (commonly referred to collectively as a Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP)) in a local government area to work together in 
formulating and implementing strategies to tackle local crime and 
disorder in the area. In County Durham this is the Safe Durham 
Partnership. 
 

3) The 2007 Regulations set out the way in which the responsible 
authorities should carry out their functions as a CSP under Section 6 of 
the Act, and require the preparation of: 
 
(a) a partnership plan for the local government area, setting out the 

CSP’s priorities. 

(b) a county level community safety agreement, setting out the ways 
the responsible authorities in the county might work more 
effectively to implement the identified priorities by joint working.  

4) The Safe Durham Partnership Board has the responsibility for delivering 
the SDPP, which is informed by a strategic assessment as part of 
Durham Insight. 
 

5) The SDPP has been aligned to the Director of Public Health Annual 
Report 2018 and the Durham Vision 2035. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



 
6) The priorities within the plan will remain in place for a year whilst the 

strategic governance review takes place, following the agreement of the 
Vision 2035 by the County Durham Partnership. 

Recommendation 

7) Members of   the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are recommended to provide comment on the draft 
SDPP to andrea.petty@durham.gov.uk  or 
julie.bradbrook@durham.gov.uk  by 14 February 2020. 

  

Page 100

mailto:andrea.petty@durham.gov.uk
mailto:julie.bradbrook@durham.gov.uk


Background 

8) The County Durham Vision 2035 is a document developed with partners 
as a shared vision for the next 15 years with three strategic ambitions: 
 
(a) More and Better jobs 
(b) People live long and independent lives 
(c) Connected communities 

 
The SDPP will take forward the Vision ambitions and objectives relating 
to community safety. 
 

9) The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 placed a statutory duty on local 
authorities to form a Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to tackle 
crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour, substance misuse, other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment and to reduce re-
offending.  In County Durham, the CSP is the Safe Durham Partnership. 

 

10) The Safe Durham Partnership has a duty to develop an annual strategic 
assessment of the key risks and threats that crime and disorder pose to 
the communities of County Durham and a duty to produce and publish a 
plan which sets out the strategic approach that will be used to tackle 
crime and disorder throughout the County. 
 

11) The SDPP is informed using the evidence base in Durham Insight which 
is the online shared intelligence, research and knowledge base for 
County Durham.  The site provides users an easy way to access and 
share information, intelligence, research and knowledge for deeper 
insights about their local area or communities.  Durham insight informs 
and supports our Strategic Assessment, which is used to inform the 
SDPP.  The site includes in depth factsheets, and lots of topic-based 
intelligence including infographics and maps. 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan 

 
12) The vision for the Safe Durham Partnership Board (SDPB) is ‘A county 

where every adult and child will feel and be safe’  
 
13) The strategic priorities for the SDPB 2020-25 were agreed in November 

2018.  
 

(a) Strategic Priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your 
community by focusing on the following work areas: 

(i) Anti-social Behaviour 
(ii) Safer Homes 
(iii) Hate Crime and Community Tensions 

Page 101



Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Focus on redesigning our response to high demand areas 
including deliberate fires, fly tipping, derelict/ abandoned 
properties and horses in order to be more effective in 
combatting these issues 

 Ensure referrals for target hardening properties for a 

specific need i.e. domestic violence, harassment, self-

neglect, hoarding for those most vulnerable 

 Increase reporting of hate incidents through the Hate Hurts 

Campaign 

(b) Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people 
from harm by focusing on the following work areas: 

(i) Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(ii) Organised Crime; County Lines 
(iii) Victims 

Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Continue to monitor and meet standards in respect of risk 

and needs assessment to ensure the needs of people 

affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence are met 

 Work with the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

to raise awareness with staff and partners of what is county 

lines, what to look for and where to report concerns and 

intelligence 

 Deliver positive outcomes for victims and witnesses 

(c) Strategic Priority 3: Prevent: Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation 
and Violent Extremism by focusing on the following work areas: 

(i) Prevent people being drawn into terrorism 
(ii) Support the work to strengthen our protection against 

terrorist attacks and mitigate the impact of such an attack 

Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Deliver a wide range of PREVENT awareness raising to 

staff of specified authorities and the child care sector to 

ensure they know how to recognise when someone is 

vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and understand 

how to refer them for support and intervention 

 Raise awareness of the importance of reporting suspicious 

incidents among professionals and the community 

Page 102



(d) Strategic Priority 4: Reduce re-offending by focusing on the 
following work areas: 

(i) Prevent inter-generational offending 
(ii) Prevent repeat offending 

Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Identify those at risk of offending and ensure appropriate 

support is in place to break the cycle of intergenerational 

offending 

 Support the development and use of the Restorative 

Justice (RJ) Hub 

(e) Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and substance misuse reduction by 
focusing on the following work areas: 

(i) Prevention and early intervention 
(ii) Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery 
(iii) Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 
(iv) Strengthening leadership, management and governance 

Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Contribute to the reduction of the availability and supply 

of illicit drugs and counterfeit alcohol addressing 

community perceptions 

 Provide drug and alcohol specialist services to provide 

holistic package of care within a range of settings 

 Contribute to the effectiveness of safeguarding and risk 

management arrangements for children, young people 

and adults where substance misuse is a factor, including 

overdose and substance misuse related death, those at 

risk of domestic abuse and sexual exploitation. 

 Prioritise the voice of the service user voice via the 
County Durham Recovery Forum to make sure the 
service is effective 

(f) Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime by 
focusing on the following work areas: 

(i) Raise awareness of the general population about staying 
safe online 

(ii) Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups 
(iii) Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of cyber 

crime 

Page 103



Examples of the key deliverables are: 

 Deliver awareness raising sessions of the risks and threats 

of cybercrime 

 Collaborate with other partnerships to widely embed cyber-

crime and exploit opportunities for joint working   

 Work with the business sector to promote Cyber Essentials 

and programmes of support as a means of protecting 

businesses from cyber crime 

9 Work is taking place with relevant performance leads and Safe Durham 
Partnership Sub Group chairs and leads to ensure that key performance 
indicators are identified so that performance management measures are 
in place. 
 

10 The priorities within the plan will remain in place for a year whilst the 
strategic governance review takes place. 
 

11 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is being undertaken alongside the 
development of the SDPP. 

 

Engagement/Consultation 

 
12 Further engagement and consultation is scheduled to take place to 

inform the SDPP 2020-25, before it is presented to the Safe Durham 
Partnership Board at its meeting on 9 March 2020 for agreement.  
Details are provided below:   

 
Draft SDPP will be presented at the following meetings for comment: 

(a) Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 9 January 2020.  

(b) Live public consultation will take place via the Durham County 
Council website from 17 December 2019 to 14 February 2020. 
This will include briefings with various community and voluntary 
sector groups within the County. 

(c) Final sign off of the SDPP will take place at the Board’s meeting 

on 9 March 2020. 

 

Conclusion 

12 The Plan has been informed by the Strategic Assessment which 
provides the evidence base on which the priorities have been 

Page 104



developed. The SDPP is also aligned to the County Durham Vision 
2035 and will be the delivery mechanism, particularly for the “Safer” 
aspects. Further work will take place with the Safe Durham Partnership 
Board and with partners to develop the Plan prior to agreement in 
March 2020. 

Background papers 

 None 

 

Author 

Andrea Petty Tel: 03000 267312  

Page 105



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the responsible 
authorities (commonly referred to collectively as a Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP)) in a local government area to work together in formulating 
and implementing strategies to tackle local crime and disorder in the area. In 
County Durham this is the Safe Durham Partnership. 

Finance 

There are no financial implications. 

Consultation 

Details of consultation are provided in the report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

A full Equality Impact Assessment is being carried out alongside the SDPP. 

Climate Change 

No adverse implications. 

Human Rights 

No adverse implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime and disorder is the main focus of the report under the Safe Durham 

Partnership. 

Staffing 

No adverse implications. 

Accommodation 

No adverse implications. 

Risk 

No adverse implications. 

Procurement 

No adverse implications 

Page 106



 

 
 

Draft 
 

Safe Durham 
 

 Partnership Plan  
 

2020 – 2025 
 

(a review will take place in 2021) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107

Amanda.Stephenson_5
Text Box
Appendix 2 



 

1 
  

Contents 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................. 3 

What is the Safe Durham Partnership? .................................................................................................. 4 

County Durham Vision 2035 ................................................................................................................... 4 

The Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment and Durham Insight ............................................. 5 

Evidence for our strategic priorities ................................................................................................... 5 

Where are we in 2020? ....................................................................................................................... 5 

Our Strategic Priorities ............................................................................................................................ 6 

Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community ................................................................... 6 

Supporting victims and protect vulnerable people from harm .......................................................... 6 

Prevent: Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent Extremism .................................................. 6 

Reduce reoffending ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Alcohol and substance misuse reduction ........................................................................................... 7 

Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime ............................................................................................ 7 

Alignment with other key strategic plans ........................................................................................... 7 

Strategic priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community ....................................... 8 

Why is it important? ........................................................................................................................... 8 

Being safe and feeling safe in your community .............................................................................. 9 

Strategic Priority 2: Supporting victims and protect vulnerable people from harm ............................ 12 

Why is it important? ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Supporting victims and protect vulnerable people from harm .................................................... 13 

Strategic Priority 3: Prevent: Counter terrorism, radicalisation and violent extremism ...................... 16 

Why is it important? ......................................................................................................................... 16 

Prevent: Counter terrorism, radicalisation and violent extremism .............................................. 17 

Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Reoffending .............................................................................................. 20 

Why is it important? ......................................................................................................................... 20 

Reduce Reoffending ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and substance misuse reduction ............................................................. 24 

Why is it important? ......................................................................................................................... 24 

Alcohol and substance misuse reduction ..................................................................................... 25 

Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime .............................................................. 28 

Why is it important? ......................................................................................................................... 28 

Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime ...................................................................................... 29 

Enabling factors .................................................................................................................................... 32 

Strategic focus ................................................................................................................................... 32 

Communication ................................................................................................................................. 32 

Page 108

file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530837
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530837
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530840
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530840
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530843
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530843
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530846
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530846
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530849
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530849
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530852
file://///duch-2910/EDPD/EDPDSERV/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership/Work%20Areas/Safe%20Durham%20Partnership%20Plan/Draft%20SDPP%20061219.docx%23_Toc26530852


 

2 
  

Performance Management ............................................................................................................... 32 

Knowledge and skills ......................................................................................................................... 32 

Partnership working .......................................................................................................................... 32 

Community Engagement .................................................................................................................. 32 

Performance Management Framework ............................................................................................... 33 

Appendix 1: Priorities and links to other partnership strategic plans. ................................................. 34 

 

  

Page 109



 

3 
  

Foreword 
Welcome to the Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020-2025. 
The Safe Durham Partnership was formed in 2009 and over the last eleven years we have 

had significant success in tackling crime and disorder through the underlying principles of 

working together. Over the last year we have had numerous successes, including: 

• A 3-year co-commissioned contract to Harbour to ensure that resources are in place 
to meet the support needs of those individuals affected by domestic violence. 

• A revised Tension Monitoring Toolkit to ensure we can intervene at the earliest signs 
of community tensions and prevent harm within our communities. 

• Working with our partners and students at New College Durham to develop a video 
resource called “Hack” that can be used to help deter young people away from 
perpetrating cybercrime. 

• Supporting the Vulnerable Intervention Pathway (VIP) Project which has positively 
impacted on 95% of referred clients and the Community Peer Mentors, which have 
reduced demand on policing and other services.   

• The rolling out of a fire stoppers initiative, which was successfully trialled in 
Easington, across all the North East. 

• 70% of opiate users are engaged in treatment and recovery services. 

• Durham has lower first-time entrant rates to the Youth Justice System than the 
average for the North East Region and a reduction in overnight custody figures. 

• Raised awareness and increased reporting of crimes such as hate crime. 
 
We will continue to work in partnership to address the issues that are most effecting those 
either working or living within County Durham. Those crimes that effect our most vulnerable 
will continue to be the focus of our partnership response such as Domestic Abuse, Hate 
Crime and the emerging issues around County Lines, where vulnerable individuals are 
preyed upon and groomed by organised criminal gangs in order to expand their reach and 
influence. 
 
We need to react to the increasing use of technology to perpetrate crime by ensuring a 
better understanding of cybercrime. Raising awareness of how we can protect ourselves 
from the numerous ways that perpetrators can steal our identities, access our finances and 
disrupt our businesses is a continued area of work. 
 
We are also strongly committed to supporting victims to cope and recover from their 
experience through a range of services customised to the specific needs of individuals. 
 
We want to work jointly together, using the best skills and expertise in our different 
organisations to meet our shared objectives. We can only do this by working together and 
supporting our communities and voluntary sector organisations, charities and social 
enterprises to make County Durham a safer place. 
 
 
 

Temporary Assistant Chief 

Fire Officer Keith Wanley 

Chair of the Safe Durham 

Partnership, County Durham 

and Darlington Fire and 

Rescue 

Cllr Lucy Hovvels MBE 

Vice Chair of the Safe Durham 

Partnership 

Portfolio Holder for Adult & 

Health Services, Durham 

County Council Page 110



 

4 
  

What is the Safe Durham Partnership? 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 placed a statutory duty on local authorities to form a 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to tackle crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour, 
substance misuse, other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment and to reduce 
re-offending.  In County Durham, the CSP is the Safe Durham Partnership. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership has a duty to develop an annual strategic assessment of the 
key risks and threats that crime and disorder pose to the communities of County Durham 
and a duty to produce and publish a plan which sets out the strategic approach that will be 
used to tackle crime and disorder throughout the County. 
 
There are currently six ‘responsible authorities’ on the Safe Durham Partnership, who have a 
legal duty to work in partnership to tackle crime, disorder, substance misuse, anti-social 
behaviour and other behaviour adversely affecting the environment, and to reduce re-
offending. 
 
Membership of the Safe Durham Partnership is made up of the following partners: 
 

Responsible authorities Additional members 

Durham County Council Office of the Police, Crime & Victims’ Commissioner 

Durham Constabulary Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service 

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

National Probation Service HMP Durham 

Durham Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company 

Voluntary and Community Sector 

Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

 

County Durham Vision 2035  
The County Durham Vision 2035 is a document developed with partners to provide a shared 
understanding of what everyone wants our county to look like in 15 years’ time. It provides 
strategic direction and enables us to work more closely together, removing organisational 
boundaries and co-delivering services for the benefit of our residents. 
 
The County Durham Vision 2035 contains three strategic ambitions to develop County 
Durham over the next 15 years: 

• More and better jobs 

• People live long and independent lives 

• Connected communities  
 
The Safe Durham Partnership Plan (SDPP) priorities were developed ahead of the County 
Durham Vision. The SDPP will have a rapid review after a year to ensure full alignment with 
the County Durham Vision implementation and the partnership governance review. This will 
ensure that the priorities set out in the Safe Durham Partnership Plan are fully embedded 
with the refreshed partnerships and delivery plan of the vision. 

Page 111



 

5 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment and Durham Insight 
The Safe Durham Partnership has a duty to develop an annual strategic assessment of the 
key risks and threats that crime and disorder pose to the communities of County Durham.   
A key summary of relevant statistics is provided under each strategic priority.  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence for our strategic priorities 

Data and intelligence had been coupled with the evidence base and knowledge of local 
circumstances to prioritise the key areas of focus in the plan. 

Where are we in 2020? 

The key factors which impact on community safety have been drawn out from the strategic 
assessment and utilised to inform the priorities for the Safe Durham Partnership Plan.  
 
This has been coupled with the major policy drivers for improving community safety which 
include: 
 

• Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015  

• Cyber Crime 

• Domestic Abuse Act 
  

The Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment is now part of Durham Insight 
which is a shared intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham, 
informing strategic planning across Durham County Council and its partners. This site 
includes in depth Insight factsheets and lots of topic-based intelligence including 
infographics, maps and story maps. New intelligence content is regularly added, and 
the site is continuously being developed and improved. www.durhaminsight.info  

 

 

The Safe Durham Partnership’s vision is underpinned  
by the strategic assessment and is: 

 

‘Durham is a county where every adult and child will feel and be safe’ 
 

 

Page 112



 

6 
  

Our Strategic Priorities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For each strategic priority we will firstly explain why it is a priority by interpreting the 
appropriate data sets and trends. We will then look at why this is important by 
understanding the impact it has on the area and the lives of those affected. A case study is 
also provided to give an example of how working together effectively we can make a real 
difference for people living within County Durham. 
 

Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community  

Being and feeling safe both in our homes and within the wider community impacts on both 
our emotional and physical wellbeing. It also directly impacts on our personal resilience as 
well as impacting overall on a community’s resilience, confidence and cohesion. 
 

Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm  

For the vast majority of victims, the experience is new and completely unexpected. Many of 
them are vulnerable and some have mental health problems. It’s essential that appropriate 
support is available to help them cope and recover from their ordeal. 
 
People can be vulnerable for all sorts of reasons including; learning or physical disabilities, 
mental health, alcohol and substance misuse, age or discrimination. Vulnerable people are 
of increased risk of being targeted by predatorial perpetrators of crime and being groomed 
in order to be exploited sexually, criminally or financially. 
 

Prevent: Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent Extremism 

Becoming radicalised can happen to anyone anywhere for numerous reasons, such as a 
traumatic event, prejudice or a skewed ideology. No matter the reason there may be 
warning signs that can help identify those people that may be at risk. If we can refer these 
individuals early enough into suitable interventions and support, we may be able to prevent 
devastating life changing incidents from occurring. 

The Safe Durham Partnership has six strategic priorities which set out what we will 
focus on to make Durham a county where every adult and child will feel and be safe. 
These priorities are: 
 

• Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community  

• Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm 

• Prevent: Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent Extremism 

• Reduce reoffending 

• Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 

• Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  

 

Page 113



 

7 
  

Reduce reoffending 

Prevention and early intervention initiatives can have an impact on diverting individuals 

away from offending in the first place. Targeted and desistance-based interventions are also 

required to rehabilitate individuals effectively and reduce reoffending. The Criminal Justice 

System needs to be effective in turning lives around and stopping people reoffending 

through support rather than punishment.  

This will help reduce crime, reduce the number of victims and make our communities safer. 
Where those people who are harmed by crime or conflict choose to, then a restorative 
approach can bring the harmed and the harmer together in a number of ways, enabling 
everyone affected by the incident to play a part in repairing the damage and finding a 
positive way forward. 
 

Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 

Alcohol and substance misuse have strong links to both offending and vulnerability in 
acquisitive crimes to further fund the addiction such as shop lifting and burglary to the 
impacts on reducing inhibitions and changing the behaviours of individuals leading to 
domestic and sexual abuse and night time economy violence. 
 

Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 

Cybercrime continues to rise in scale and complexity, impacting on a greater number of 
victims, affecting essential services, businesses and private individuals alike. However less 
complex means are also very successful such as phishing for personal information using 
bogus information. 
 
It is costing the UK billions of pounds, causes untold damage, and threatens national 
security. 
 
According to the National Crime Agency home-grown cyber criminals are becoming more 
sophisticated and therefore a rising threat. Although young criminals are often driven by 
peer kudos rather than financial reward, organised UK cybercrime groups are motivated by 
profit. 
 

Alignment with other key strategic plans 

Protecting vulnerable children and adults is a key priority for the Safe Durham Partnership; 
and it is important that there are close links with the Safe Durham Partnership and the 
statutory Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership and the Safeguarding Adults Board. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership Plan has been developed in close collaboration with the 
Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s office, drawing on a clear body of evidence and 
understanding of the needs of communities in County Durham. The priorities which each 
plan sets are therefore aligned, and the partners work closely to ensure they are delivered 
to meet the needs of our local communities. Please refer to Appendix 1 to see how the Safe 
Durham Partnership Plan aligns to other plans. 
 
  

Page 114



 

8 
  

Strategic priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Antisocial behaviour 

• Safer Homes 

• Hate crime 
 

Why is it important? 

County Durham remains one of the safest places to live, work and visit in the country, and 
partners are committed to ensuring that local people feel safe and are safe in communities 
with low crime rates which are more cohesive and resilient.  
 
Whilst incidents of anti-social behaviour have continued to decrease year on year this is an 
area which can have a significant impact on our communities and individuals and County 
Durham remains higher than the national average. Problem solving approaches and 
partnership working remains key to addressing anti-social behaviour. 
 
Hate Crime is an area subject to under reporting where the key challenge is to ensure that 
victims are confident to report, and that once reported, the hate element is recognised so 
that support and safeguarding can be provided.  
 
Resilient and cohesive communities are more likely to engage with services and report 
crime and anti-social behaviour.  In order to achieve this there are range of tools and 
powers available to partner organisations to tackle anti-social behaviour. Home safety 
referrals will ensure that vulnerable victims feel safer in their homes. 
 
Assets available within our communities may be ‘place-based’ and relate to our sense of 
belonging within a community, our cultural heritage, and the environment we live in.  These 
can support people and may include, for example, our civic pride and whether or not we live 
in areas that are safe and free from fear of crime. 
 
A safe, strong and prosperous community is also a cohesive one.  It is important that people 
have a sense of belonging and feel proud about where they live. It is also important to 
understand the impact which tensions and conflict may have on our local communities. The 
implementation of the Community Cohesion Toolkit will ensure that issues around 
community tensions are identified sooner to ensure a partnership response and avoid 
escalation. The Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) will have a key role to play, feeding in issues 
around community tensions and implementing schemes that will help form a more cohesive 
community. 
  

Page 115



 

9 
  

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

  

                                                           
 

 

Being safe and feeling safe in your community 

The monthly crime rate is consistently 

between 8 and 10 crimes per 1,000 

On average there are around 51,000 

crimes per year reported in County 

Durham  

1st time offender rates are similar to 

England and the North East, and have 

been reducing over time  

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

C
ri

m
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
,0

0
0

County Durham North East England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

County Durham North East England

C
ri

m
es

 p
er

 1
,0

0
0

June 2019 
July 2017 

ASB rates** in County Durham (26.1 

per 1,000) are lower than the North 

East (36.7) but higher than England 

(22.5) 
 **Jul18-Jun19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hate crime incidents increased locally 

by almost 16% between 2013-14 and 

2018-19….and crimes by 120% over the 

same period 

150

175

200

225

250

275

300

2014 2015 2016 2017

1
st

 o
ff

en
d

er
s 

p
er

 1
0

0
,0

00

County Durham North East England

The crime rate* locally (97 per 1,000) is 

similar to England (87/1,000) and the 

North East (110/1,000) 
*Jul17-Jun19, excludes ASB 

0

10

20

30

40

50

County Durham North East England

A
SB

 r
at

e 
p

er
 1

,0
0

0

During 2018 the fire service attended 

280 house fires…and delivered nearly 

17,000 home safety visits  

 

Public confidence is not significantly different from the Most Similar Groups (MSG) 

average 

50% of respondents to the National Crime Survey think Council & Police are dealing 

with crime issues that matter to the local area 

Page 116



 

10 
  

 

Case Study - Community Tensions 

Gypsies, Roma and Travellers have a long-established history as part of our community 

in County Durham. We have a duty to encourage race equality, eliminate 

discrimination and foster good relations. 

A large unauthorised encampment arrived in the county during the early summer. A 

resident in the locality reported this to the local authority. During the conversation the 

complainant become very angry and made a threat to damage the caravans belonging 

to the families and threatened to set fire to them.  

The Gypsy Roma Traveller Services (GRTS) team was informed immediately about the 

comment made who then contacted Durham Constabulary to follow up the report. 

Key partners and Durham County Council Health and Safety were contacted to make 

them aware of the incident and advise they should assess potential risk in respect of 

any contact/visits to the area and the DCC Equality and Diversity team to make them 

aware of the incident. 

Durham Constabulary visited the complainant and issued a verbal warning about his 

conduct. It was explained that his behaviour was totally unacceptable and further 

incidents could lead to him being convicted of a racially aggravated offence. 

A tension monitoring form was completed and then discussed at the local multi-agency 

problem solving meeting to make partners aware of the situation. 

In order to help reduce further tensions in the community further interventions were 

arranged to help educate and inform residents about the Gypsy, Roma, Traveller 

community such as the Holocaust Memorial Day event and Community Safety 

Roadshows as well as plans to set up a community forum. This forum brings together 

members of the GRT community with key members of the community and officials to 

ensure that these issues are less likely to happen in the future. 

Page 117



 

11 
  

Strategic Priority 1 Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community 
 

Work areas 
 

Anti-Social behaviour (ASB) 
 

Safer Homes 
 

Hate Crime and Community Tension 
 

Core Deliverables  • Focus on redesigning our 
response to high demand areas 
including: 

o Deliberate Fires 
o Fly tipping 
o Derelict/ abandoned 

properties 
o Horses 

in order to be more efficient and 
effective in combatting these 
issues 

• Communicate successes in order 
to build confident communities 

• Clear use of a partner problem 
solving approach to improve the 
delivery of agile interventions 
utilising the Local Multi-agency 
Problem Solving (LMAPS) process 

• Collaboration with Area Action 
Partnerships and the Voluntary 
and Community Sector in tackling 
long term anti-social behaviour in 
high impact areas 

• Introduce wide-scale licensing of 
private landlords 

• Work with identified residential 
licensed premises to support 
them to review their annual risk 
assessment to ensure that safety 
control measures are maintained 
in good condition 

• Provide annual assurance to SDP 
around fire safety issues 
including safe and wellbeing visits 

• Ensure referrals for target 
hardening properties for a 
specific need i.e. domestic 
violence, harassment, self-
neglect, hoarding for those most 
vulnerable 

• Fire safety awareness training 
delivered to partners 

 

• Understand and reduce the true level of hate crimes 
and incidents 

• Increase reporting of hate incidents through the 
Hate Hurts Campaign 

• Develop a multi-agency communications strategy, 
demonstrating a cross-organisation and cross-sector 
approach, including a message that there should be 
zero-tolerance of hate crime. This to be aimed at all 
sections of society. 

• Review of reporting mechanisms and pathways 

• Review how organisations share intelligence 

• Review of the use of evidence to ensure effective 
prosecutions 

• Map the support for victims and identify gaps in 
effective support 

• Understand the issue of incitement in relation to 
‘disability hate crime’, and the common connections 
between ‘disability hate crime’ and ‘crimes against 
disabled people’ through joint working with the Joint 
Hate Crime Action Group and the Law Commission 

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 
(in development) 

County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue 
A Safer County Durham and 
Darlington 3-year plan 

Joint Hate Crime Action Plan 

P
age 118



    

12 
  

Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

• Organised Crime and County Lines 

• Victims 
 

Why is it important? 

Domestic abuse and sexual violence are hidden crimes that are significantly unreported. 
This violence and abuse have a major and long-lasting impact on victims, witnesses, children 
and young people, whole families and the wider community. Most victims of domestic 
abuse and sexual violence are women and girls, but men and boys can also be victims. 
 
Durham Constabulary expects to see an increase in demand from domestic abuse incidents 
as improvements are made in identifying victims and increasing confidence amongst victims 
to report abuse. The harm of domestic abuse to the victim is substantial and often has 
aggravating factors such as alcohol, drugs and mental health.  
 
A recent Joint Targeted Area Inspection with a focus on children living with Domestic Abuse 
highlighted that greater consideration should be given to the risks associated with children 
within domestic abuse relationships and information sharing across agencies should be 
improved. Sexual offences against children remains an area of concern, specifically in 
relation to contact offences which are largely committed by persons known to the child and 
often within the family unit. 
 
We aim to significantly reduce the number of repeat victims and serial perpetrators of 
domestic abuse through early intervention and ensuring that more hidden victims are 
identified and offered support. 
 
County lines drug dealing requires exploitation of the vulnerable, including children and 
those with mental health or addiction problems, at all points of their drug supply routes. 
Albeit relatively rarely, UK investigations have encountered children from what people 
might perceive to be more stable or more affluent backgrounds who have been groomed for 
county lines dealing. 
 
We are working with Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership to raise awareness with 
staff and partners of what criminal exploitation and county lines is, what to look for and 
where to report concerns and intelligence.  
 
We are also working with the Safeguarding Adults Board to raise awareness of modern 
slavery.  Durham County Council has developed a Modern Slavery Charter which focusses 
upon three key aims; prevention, protection and partnership working. Making sure the 
appropriate agencies disrupt the organised criminal gangs involved in this activity effectively 
and ensuring partners understand the nature of this harm to enable practitioners to 
recognise its signs and respond appropriately so that potential victims get the support and 
help that they need. 
 

Page 119



    

13 
  

 
 

2 

  

                                                           
 

 

Support victims and protect vulnerable 

people from harm 

There were almost 1,500 sexual offences 
in County Durham in 2018/19, at a rate of 

2.8 per 1,000…a rise of 45% between 

2014/15 and 2018/19. 

 

 

The number of children in the youth 

 justice system has been falling over 

 time locally… 

 

…but the 2016/17 rate (5.7 per 1,000)   

was statistically significantly higher 

than England (4.8 per 1,000) 

 

Violence and sexual offences are the most 

reported crimes locally, at a rate of             

40.7 per 1,000* *Jul18-Jun19 

0

10

20

30

40

50

C
ri

m
e 

ra
te

 
p

er
 1

,0
0

0

…..similar to the North East but 

higher than England 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

County Durham North East EnglandV
io

le
n

ce
 &

 s
ex

u
al

 o
ff

en
ce

s 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

,0
0

0

There were over 10,626 domestic 

abuse related crimes recorded in 

County Durham (2018/19)….…. 

equivalent to 20 crimes for 

every 1,000 people  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

,0
0

0

County Durham North East England

There were 169 child sexual exploitation referrals in County Durham 

during 2018….a 22% reduction from 2017 

 

6,982 referrals to Harbour (2018/19), 

compared to 5,140 (2017/18) a rise 

of 38%. 

611 victims of crime took up the offer 

of help from VCAS (2018/19) 

0
10
20
30
40
50

County Durham North East England

%
 c

h
an

ge

Page 120



    

14 
  

  

Case Study – Domestic Abuse 

K was in a controlling relationship with emotional and occasional physical abuse. 

This led to her self-referring into the Harbour Adult Outreach scheme.   

A support plan was complete with K and safety advice was given and explained. 

K was offered and accepted legal advice during the assessment as the Solicitor was 

in the building running a drop-in clinic at the time. After legal advice, Harbour staff 

and K discussed a plan to leave the home in a planned move whilst her partner 

would not be present. 

Harbour liaised with K regularly during the period of her initially leaving the family 

home as planned. They liaised with the Solicitor over K’s case providing supporting 

documents when required. 

Another intervention by Harbour was to provide a report for a Court hearing 

involving child contact arrangements. 

K received 1:1 emotional support by way of fortnightly face to face meetings, and 

fortnightly telephone support where she was encouraged to speak to her GP to 

discuss her low moods and report the abuse to the Police. 

K feels she has got her life back and is feeling happier and more positive every day. 

Page 121



    

15 
  

Strategic 
Priority 2 

Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm 
 

 

Work Areas Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
 

Organised Crime; County lines 
 

Victims 

Core 
Deliverables  

• To develop a suite of sustainable intervention 
providers to ensure a consistent approach 

• Continue to monitor and meet standards in 
respect of risk and needs assessment to ensure 
the needs of people affected by domestic abuse 
and sexual violence are met 

• To educate children and young people on the 
importance of respectful and healthy 
relationships in order to prevent future 
offending or victimisation 

• Ensure that Operation Encompass will continue 
and to be expanded in line with JTAI 
recommendations. I Am Me, Being ME and the 
SELFIE projects to also continue 

• To continue to support the piloting of 
numerous campaigns in relation to domestic 
abuse and sexual violence 

• Maintain strong links between Domestic Abuse 
Sexual Violence Executive Group and the 
Durham Safeguarding Children partnership to 
ensure issues requiring multi-agency and 
individual partner response are identified and 
addressed as recommended through the JTAI 
action plan 

• Work with the Durham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership to raise awareness 
with staff and partners of what is county 
lines, what to look for and where to report 
concerns and intelligence 

• Appropriate agencies to disrupt the 
organised criminal gangs involved in this 
activity effectively 

• To raise awareness and explain the nature 
of this harm to enable practitioners to 
recognise its signs and respond 
appropriately so that potential victims get 
the support and help they need 

• Provide co-ordinated, end-to-end care 
and support for victims and witnesses 

• Deliver positive outcomes for victims 
and witnesses 

• Enable the victim’s voice to be heard 
throughout the criminal justice system 
processes 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 
 

Domestic Violence and Sexual Abuse Group 
(DASVEG) Action Plan  

Operation Sentinel Action Plan 
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Strategy 
Child Exploitation Group Action Plan 

County Durham and Darlington Victims 
and Witnesses Group Delivery Plan 
Reducing Re-offending Strategy 

P
age 122



    

16 
  

Strategic Priority 3: Prevent: Counter terrorism, radicalisation and violent 

extremism  
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Preventing people being drawn into terrorism 

• Support the work to strengthen our protection against terrorist attacks and mitigate 
the impact of such an attack 

 

Why is it important? 

The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 placed Prevent on a statutory footing and 
requires all specified authorities to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from 
being drawn into terrorism”. Local Authorities and their partners therefore have a core role 
to play in countering terrorism at a local level and helping to safeguard individuals at risk of 
radicalisation.  The Counter Terrorism Strategy (CONTEST) 2018 confirms that the threat to 
the UK comes from Islamist terrorists while extreme right-wing terrorism is described as a 
growing threat.  
 
Counter Terrorism Strategy 2018 has the following objectives: 

• Pursue - To stop terrorist attacks (the remit of the police and security services) 

• Prevent - To stop people becoming or supporting violent extremists 

• Prepare - Where we cannot stop an attack, to mitigate its impact 

• Protect - To strengthen our overall protection against terrorist attacks 
 
Prevent awareness is a key strategic objective of the local contest delivery plan. Through the 
Safe Durham/Safer Darlington Partnerships the Silver Contest Group’s plan has now been 
updated to incorporate activities across partners to ensure training is aligned to the Counter 
Terrorism Local Profile but also to ensure we understand strategic delivery. 
 
The Channel Programme is a key part of the Prevent strategy. There is a requirement for 
local authorities and others to provide support for people who are vulnerable to being 
drawn into terrorism, before they commit an offence. This process aims to provide support 
to individuals at an early stage and help protect them from radicalisation. 
  

Page 123



    

17 
  

 

 

 
  

    

Prevent: Counter terrorism, radicalisation and 

violent extremism  

Threat level 
There are five levels of threat:  
 

• Low - an attack is unlikely  

• Moderate - an attack is possible 
but not likely  

• Substantial - an attack is a 
strong possibility  

• Severe - an attack is highly likely  

• Critical - an attack is expected 
imminently  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The UK threat level for International 
Terrorism is currently SEVERE (an 
Attack is Highly Likely) but was 
increased to CRITICAL (an Attack is 
Expected Imminently) on two 
occasions during 2017, a year during 
which there were five terrorist 
attacks resulting in 36 deaths and 
hundreds of injuries. 
 
Since these attacks, there has been a 

significant increase in the volume of 

information received and demand for 

investigative resources 

 

Prevent is part of the wider counter-terrorism strategy called Contest. 

Prevent aims to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism 

 
 

National statistics 
During 2018 there were 273 arrests for terrorism related activity in Great Britain, a 
decrease of 41% compared to 2017 (due partly to the high number of arrests made in that 
year following the London and Manchester attacks.) Of the 273 arrests: 

• 102 (37%) resulted in a charge (81 being terrorism-related)  

• 99 (36%) were released without charge  

• 23 (8%) were released on bail pending further investigation  

• 17 (6%) faced alternative action  

• 32 (12%) cases pending at the time of data provision  
 
As at January 2019, there were a record 700 terror investigations ongoing, up from 

around 500 in 2017.  

 

 

The UK threat level for International Terrorism is 
currently Substantial* (an Attack is Likely), 
reduced from Severe in November 2019, but was 
increased to Critical (an Attack is Expected 
Imminently) on two occasions during 2017, a 
year during which there were five terrorist 
attacks resulting in 36 deaths and hundreds of 
injuries. 
 
Since these attacks, there has been a significant 

increase in the volume of information received 

and demand for investigative resources 

*As at November 2019 

 

Page 124



    

18 
  

 
 
 
 
l 

  

Case Study - Channel 

J is a 15-year-old male and has recently been excluded from school for sexualised 

behaviour towards other students. He lives with his grandmother who has said that he is 

showing an interest in Nazism and has recently attended an EDL rally regarding Brexit. 

The referrer is concerned that J is vulnerable and easily influenced and has been 

speaking to far right people online. 

He has a history of being bullied at school, is a strong supporter of Brexit and holds very 

patriotic views.  

J was adopted at Channel and now has an intervention provider which is addressing his 

needs and exploring his ideologies and vulnerabilities. 

Page 125



    

19 
  

Strategic Priority 3 Prevent: Counter terrorism, radicalisation and violent extremism 
 

Work Areas Prevent people being drawn into terrorism 
 

Support the work to strengthen our protection against 
terrorist attacks and mitigate the impact of such an 
attack 
 

Core Deliverables  • Utilise the Prevent Duty Toolkit to assess Prevent 
against statutory requirements and best practice 
delivery 

• Deliver a wide range of PREVENT awareness raising to 
staff of specified authorities and the child care sector 
to ensure they know how to recognise when someone 
is vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and 
understand how to refer them for support and 
intervention 

• Work in partnership to understand and respond to 
levels of intolerance and extremism that can raise 
community tensions  

• Promote the use of the adult/child referral pathways 
and ensure all staff know how to make a Prevent 
referral 

• Transition the Channel intervention and support 
programme to Durham County Council and put in place 
protocols for implementation as required by operation 
Dovetail 
 

• Identify the threat and vulnerability from terrorism 
and extremism relating to terrorism in County 
Durham 

• Raise awareness of the importance of reporting 
suspicious incidents among professionals and the 
community 

• Collaborate with the Local Resilience Forum and 
County Durham Safety Advisory Group on issues of 
Prevent, Protect and Prepare  

• Raise awareness of how to protect crowded places 
from, and respond to, a terrorist attack  

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 
 

County Durham and Darlington Silver Contest Delivery Action Plan 

P
age 126



    

20 
  

Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Reoffending 

Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Prevent inter-generational offending 

• Prevent repeat offending 
 

Why is it important? 

In order to prevent crime and stop people who have offended from committing further 
crimes, partners need to work together to implement effective measures to ensure adults 
and young people who offend are challenged and supported to desist from crime.  
Durham and Darlington’s reducing reoffending group focuses its work on youth offending, 
early intervention, volume offender management and enabling desistance pathway support. 
 
Prevention and early intervention initiatives can have an impact on diverting individuals 
away from the criminal justice system. Targeted and desistance-based interventions are also 
required to rehabilitate individuals effectively and reduce reoffending. The Criminal Justice 
System needs to be effective both in terms of punishing those people who offend and 
stopping people reoffending through support rather than punishment if appropriate. 
 
Challenges remain in relation to a coordinated approach to securing desistance pathway 
support, but we have been successful in securing a joint approach to housing needs and 
support as well as commissioning a specific pathway through substance misuse provision for 
those who offend.  Effective offender management relies heavily upon all partner resources 
to provide critical pathways to steer people away from future offending.  
 
The Local Criminal Justice Partnership is aligned to the community safety partnership and is 
committed to delivering an end-to-end system for rehabilitating offenders and reducing 
reoffending, ensuring that the police, youth offending services, Crown Prosecution Service, 
Courts, Community Rehabilitation Company, National Probation Service and Prisons, work 
together with those partners responsible for supporting victims and providing the services 
which help to prevent people offending, including Public Health, Housing, Employment and 
Mental Health services so that people can get access to the support that they need. 
  

Page 127



    

21 
  

 

  

Reduce Reoffending 

In 2017 there were 127 1st time entrants 

to the youth system in County Durham at 

a rate of 250 per 100,000. This is not 

significantly different to England 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

…and has been falling over time locally, 

regionally and nationally 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
0

,0
0

0

County Durham North East England

In County Durham there are an average of 

4.7 offences per offender, similar to the 

North East and England 
 

 

 

 
In 2019 there was a 59% reduction in 

detected crime for offenders in the 

Integrated Offender Management cohort 

over the last 12 months, compared with 

28% last year 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

This can change over time due to the 

numbers and type of offenders in the 

cohort. 

Between 2015/16 and 2018/19 pre-

caution disposals fell by 41%  

In 2019/2020, 50.9% of families achieved 

a successful intervention for crime/ASB, 

compared to 20.4% in 2016/17 

Overall 7.2% of Criminal Justice clients in 

alcohol and drug treatment achieved a 

successful completion, 5.2% for opiates, 

36.4% for non-opiates. This has been 

consistent over time 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%

In County Durham 3 in 10 adult 

offenders re-offend ….this rises to almost 

half for children and young people 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

19/20 18/19 E&W NE 

All 30.6% 32.0% 35.5% 29.4%

Juvenile 48.4% 41.6% 39.2% 41.7%

Page 128



    

22 
  

 
 

 

 
Case Study - Restorative Justice 

 
An incident of criminal damage occurred, where a young male H kicked open a front 

door of a family’s home. The force of the kick caused the door to fly open and 

narrowly miss one of the young children. That action therefore caused great upset 

and worry; not just for the damage to property but most notably the possible 

physical harm which could have occurred and the emotional harm that did.   

This led to the children fearing being in the home and unable to sleep properly – the 

whole family needed to know why it had happened in order to move forward. 

The police were called and following an investigation H was identified. 

The case was referred to The Restorative Hub by the police officer with the 

agreement of all concerned. In a safe and structured face to face meeting H 

explained his actions to the parents who in turn were able to let him know of the 

impact of those actions on them and their children. H was shocked that his 

thoughtless behaviour had caused such significant harm upon as many people, and 

especially children.  

The parents were better able to understand H and as a consequence thanked him 

for his honesty and were pleased that he was not being further criminalised. They 

could then tell the children that they had met ‘the man that did it’ and that he was 

really sorry, which helped greatly in their recovery. 

All agreed that they were pleased to have taken part and that a weight had been 

lifted from their shoulders. The family asked for an update in three months’ time on 

H's behaviour, as only a period of not getting into trouble would be full proof that he 

had learned from this experience. This was agreed and the police confirmed that H 

had been in no further trouble, had got his head down in school and was not 

associating with the same peer group. 

Page 129



    

23 
  

Strategic 
Priority 4 

Reduce Reoffending 
 

Work Areas Prevent inter-generational offending Prevent repeat offending 
 

Core 
Deliverables  

Objectives 

• Identify those at risk of offending and ensure appropriate support is in place to break the cycle of intergenerational offending 

• Implement early intervention strategies with the aim to divert individuals from the Criminal Justice system. 

• Ensure critical pathway evidence informs needs-based solutions using integrated offender management principles 
Effective Pathways 

• Building our “Think Family” approach for offenders and their families 

• Using and improving pathways to enable effective intervention throughout the criminal justice process including integrated offender 
management 

• Understand where gaps in service provision are, across the whole system, and working in partnership to fill them 

• Develop an improved understanding of the needs profile of females who offend 
Restorative Justice 

• Support the development and use of the Restorative Justice (RJ) Hub 

• Ensure restorative approaches are used when working with people who offend 

• Embedding the work of the RJ Hub among partner agencies 

• Engaging with volunteers where appropriate and developing their skills  

• Developing and promoting victim involvement within restorative practice  
Use and completion of sentences / orders 

• Using full range of diversion and sentencing powers / orders by courts 

• Rehabilitative and safe use of custody / prison 

• Raising awareness of the links between re-offending and sentencing 

• Ensuring those offenders posing highest risk to the community are within scope of Integrated Offender Management (IOM) arrangements 

• Working in partnership to deliver a range of desistance provision for offenders and families 
 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 
 

Reducing Reoffending Strategy 

P
age 130



    

24 
  

Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Alcohol harm reduction 

• Drugs harm reduction 
 

Why is it important? 

Although alcohol consumption per adult (aged over 15 years) has been declining since 2004, 
those that do drink are drinking at an increasing risk. Consumption habits have changed 
throughout the last two decades with twice as much alcohol now being sold from off-sales 
compared to the on-trade. Reasons for risks associated with alcohol include pre-loading and 
cheap alcohol sales, density of drinking establishments, high risk licensed premises and 
vertical drinking premises as well as changes in consumption habits. 
 
Although alcohol-related incidents such as public order, criminal damage or violence have 
been fluctuating since they peaked in July 2018, they still present a significant demand on 
resources. 
 
Alcohol is noted as a factor in many incidents of domestic abuse, sexual violence and child 
exploitation. The use of alcohol is also a significant factor in why children suffer from neglect 
or harm. Alcohol misuse causes harm to people’s health including their mental health and 
can impact on the ability of individuals to access or sustain employment. 
 
Drug dependency continues to be a significant driver of acquisitive crime, causing a high 
demand on resources. There has also been an increase in vulnerable child and vulnerable 
adult incidents which are drug related. Drug related violence against the person accounted 
for a significant portion of all drug related crime and drug offences have increased when 
compared with 2017/18. Crime and drug trafficking offences have increased significantly for 
the same period.  
 
Drug misuse is a serious issue not only to the health and wellbeing of the individual that is 
affected by it, but that of their families and the wider community. Tackling drug misuse 
requires a co-ordinated approach involving a whole range of partners. It is not just the 
responsibility of organisations however; individuals and the wider community all have a role 
to play in reducing and preventing drug misuse. 
 
Partners will work together to reduce alcohol and drug misuse, campaigning in partnership 
for changes in the law around minimum unit pricing and tackling the organised crime groups 
who supply illegal drugs. Preventing further misuse of drugs and alcohol is also an area of 
focus for the Health and Well Being Board. 
  

Page 131



    

25 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Drug related  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 % + - 
Violence against the person 139 220 291 407 193% 
Domestic abuse 146 236 299 405 177% 
Anti-social behaviour 123 187 172 244 98% 
All drug related incidents 2861 3214 3353 3605 26% 

Alcohol related violent crime and 

 domestic violence levels have been rising 

locally….…while the number of alcohol 

related ASB have been falling 

 

  

Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 
There are around 2,800 opiate and crack  

users (OCUs) in County Durham.  
 

The rate is statistically significantly lower than  

the North East but not significantly different to England  

Around 25% of all violent crime in 

County Durham is alcohol related. This 

has been consistent over time. 

Drug related death rates (2015-17) 

are statistically significantly higher 

 in County Durham (7.1 per  

100,000) than England (4.2),  

but not significantly different to  

the North East (7.6).  

 
 

They have been rising over time locally, regionally and nationally.  

Drug related incidents 

increased by 26% 

between 2015/16 and 

2018/19 

Opiate and Crack Users (OCU)

Rate
Lower 

limit

 Upper 

limit

County Durham 8.5 7.7 9.5

North East 11.2 10.8 12

England 8.6 8.7 9.2

Unmet need* for OCUs is lower in County 
Durham than England, but it is higher for 
crack users 
  

*Estimate of the proportion OCUs not currently in treatment. 

 

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

0%

50%

100%

OCU Opiate CrackU
n

m
et

 n
ee

d

England County Durham

Mar 2019 

Apr 2016 

Page 132



    

26 
  

 
 
 
 
  

Case Study – Drugs and alcohol 

N, a 32-year-old male was referred to the drugs and alcohol recovery service via the 

court for domestic violence. He was claiming job seekers allowance. When he got paid, 

he would binge drink on a bottle of vodka daily and take both cannabis and street 

diazepam when he has no alcohol, as he has difficulty in sleeping.  

Since accessing the drug and alcohol recovery service, N commenced on an alcohol 

reduction plan using a drink diary and alcohol workbook, which offers both visual and 

textualised content of dealing with the issues that surround alcohol.  

N’s alcohol consumption has reduced dramatically and he is currently attending a pre-

detox group, and then he will move onto a community recovery programme for 

individuals who are no longer drinking or taking substances and want to gain skills and 

knowledge to maintain their recovery in the community. 

Page 133



    

27 
  

Strategic 
Priority 5 

Alcohol and Substance Misuse Reduction 
 

Work Areas Prevention and early intervention Providing specialist 
interventions to promote 
recovery 

Protecting children and vulnerable 
adults at risk 
 

Strengthening leadership, 
management and governance 

Core 
Deliverables  

• Contribute to the reduction of 
the availability and supply of 
illicit drugs and counterfeit 
alcohol addressing community 
perceptions 

• Increase early identification 
and support for those affected 
by alcohol and drugs across the 
life course within a range of 
settings (Making Every Contact 
Count) 

• Improve the quality and 
consistency of information and 
education about alcohol and 
drugs in a variety of settings 
including schools, colleges, 
University, wider community 
and the workplace 

• Promote responsible 
management of licensed 
premises through effective 
implementation of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and best 
practice interventions 

• Promote harm reduction 
messages for the reduction 
of alcohol intake, promote 
needle exchange activities 
and overdose prevention 
(including naloxone 
provision) within a range of 
settings. 

• Ensure that individuals, 
families and wider partners 
have access to high quality 
information on support 
options available, with 
specific targeting for 
marginalised groups 

• Provide drug and alcohol 
specialist services to 
provide holistic package of 
care within a range of 
settings 

• Monitor outcomes for 
service delivery via the 
National Drug Treatment 
Monitoring System 
(NDTMS) 

• Contribute to the effectiveness 
of safeguarding and risk 
management arrangements for 
children, young people and 
adults where substance misuse 
is a factor, including overdose 
and substance misuse related 
death, those at risk of domestic 
abuse and sexual exploitation. 

• Provide effective interagency 
responses for those experiencing 
severe and multiple 
disadvantage substance misuse, 
offending, homelessness, mental 
health, long-term chronic 
conditions 

• Strengthen an integrated 
approach to providing support 
for children and families affected 
by parental substance misuse 
(cross reference with prevention 
and early intervention) utilising a 
Think Family approach 

• Review the Alcohol 
Declaration for Safer 
Durham Partnership 

• Implementation of Alcohol 
CLeaR recommendations 

• Promote information 
sharing across all 
partnership agencies 

• Ensure there are links to 
other strategic plans e.g. 
Tobacco Plan 

• Prioritise the voice of the 
service user via the County 
Durham Recovery Forum 
to make sure the service is 
effective 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 
 

Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction Strategy 

P
age 134



    

28 
  

Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

• Raise awareness of the general population about staying safe online 

• Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups 

• Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of cyber crime 
 

Why is it important? 

Advances in technology and cyber related crime, impacts across virtually all areas of 
policing. It is an enabler of crime, such as fraud, harassment, child sexual abuse and 
exploitation or pure cyber-dependent crime and is also a source of significant amounts of 
data, in both an online and offline context.  
 
The impact on policing is significant, particularly in terms of maximising capability to exploit 
investigatory opportunities and capture evidence as part of investigations that are proving 
more complex. In relation to fraud offences key concerns are around under reporting, 
particularly in relation to the business sector where there may be a reluctance to report 
crimes due to reputational damage.   
 
Targeting of individual victims is increasing and particularly among vulnerable groups.  It is 
important to protect individuals and organisations from becoming victims through ensuring 
our communities have the knowledge and ability to protect themselves against cyber-
enabled fraud and crime.  Every victim coming to the attention of the victim and advice 
service is offered information with regard to prevention of cybercrime and targeted 
preventative work is being carried out by both the force and the local authority. 
 
The huge growth in technology and digital communications has enhanced society and 
quality of life for everyone. However, it comes with clear risks to homes and businesses, as 
cyber-fraud increases and there are new patterns of criminal activity all the time. 
 
The significant risks associated with cybercrime alongside the widely estimated 
understanding that the majority of cyber-attacks are preventable, make good practice 
critically important. 
 
Through the Safer Cyber Working Group, the Safe Durham Partnership will look to support 
and deliver this strategic priority across the partnerships structures and community sectors. 
 
Collaboration and partnership working is needed across the county to enhance our 
capability to tackle cybercrime and cyber-enabled crime, which is thought to be largely 
under-reported. This will include programmes to raise awareness and educate communities, 
including the business sector, to protect themselves against cyber-enabled crime. 
  

Page 135



    

29 
  

•  

  

Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 

 

There were around 2,200 fraud and computer misuse offences referred to National 

Fraud Intelligence Bureau in the Durham Constabulary area during 2018, at a rate of 4 

per 1,000.  

 

This rate is similar to both England and the  

North East, and has been rising year on year  

locally, regionally and nationally. 

  

 

 

0 2 4 6 8

Durham

North East

England

% increase 16/17 to 17/18

For the year ending in March 2018, ONS** estimated that around 4.5 million 

cybercrimes were committed in England and Wales.  
 

Of those, around 71% were fraud offences, and about 27% were related to computer 

misuse (encompassing child pornography and hacking).  
 

**Office for National Statistics 

 

 

2 in 5 UK businesses were subject 

to some kind of cybercrime within 

the past twelve months. … 

 

…at an average cost of around 

£3,000 per business per 

cybercrime  
*Cyber Security Breaches Survey 2018 

 

National context 

The National Crime Agency (NCA) states 

Cybercrime continues to rise in scale and 

complexity, affecting essential services, 

businesses and private individuals alike.  

 

Cybercrime costs the UK billions of pounds, 

causes untold damage, and threatens national 

security. 

 

 

 

Page 136



    

30 
  

 
Case Study 1 – Cyber Crime  

Thirteen-year-old J was referred to the intervention workshop after hacking into a 

bank account and receiving a caution by the police. 

J said: “I like making and breaking stuff and messing around online. “I hacked a 

bank account and the police came to my school. My parents were shocked I 

suppose.” 

Discussions led to J taking part in the pilot North East cyber workshop where he 

worked with other young people in similar situations and was made aware of the 

serious implications of this activity. He was shown how he can enjoy a lucrative and 

legitimate career out of his interest whilst sticking to the right side of cyber law. 

J has not been in trouble since this intervention took place. 

Case Study 2 – Cyber Crime  

A is a 70-year-old man who lives alone. A was contacted by an unknown person 

who said he was from his local bank. A was informed that his bank account had 

been ‘hacked’ and he was at risk of losing all his money. He was asked to open his 

online bank account in order that a new and safe account could be opened to 

transfer his funds to. A followed the instructions he was given believing he was 

keeping his money safe. 

Later it transpired that A had via his online bank account transferred all his money 

into an account controlled by the fraudulent bank staff member. A considerable 

amount of money had been stolen and the bank were unable to recover that 

money or make a refund. 

A was referred to the Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS), who gave him 

immediate emotional support, and the opportunity to talk about the issues 

affecting him.  

He felt embarrassed that he been ‘caught out’ so easily, and also felt uneasy with 

regard to the fraudster knowing who he was and where he lived as he felt that he 

may be targeted in his own home.  

Advice and support was given with regard to his future online safety and 

reassurance with regard to his safety at home.  

Arrangements were made to carry out a ‘Friends Against Scams’ presentation to A 

and a number of his associates at a local community group. 

As a consequence of the support provided A (and his associates) felt they would be 

more confident in identifying fraudsters both online and through other methods 

such as the telephone, he felt safer at home and less concerned about the 

embarrassment that he had suffered. 

 

Page 137



    

31 
  

 

Strategic Priority 6 Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 
 

Work Areas Raise awareness of the general 
population about staying safe online 
 

Reduce risk to the most vulnerable 
groups 
 

Build resilience of local 
businesses of the threat of cyber 
crime 
 

Core Deliverables  • Deliver awareness raising sessions 
of the risks and threats of 
cybercrime 

• Deliver a general understanding 
about digital hygiene through 
events, seminars, marketing and 
communications  

• Increase awareness of those in the 
public, voluntary and community 
sectors about protecting clients 
from becoming a victim 

• Increase confidence to report 
incidents of cyber-crime  

 

• Collaborate with other 
partnerships to widely embed 
cyber-crime and exploit 
opportunities for joint working   

• Work with the voluntary and 
community sector to identify 
means of communicating digital 
hygiene to those who have 
vulnerabilities (e.g. older people) 

• Work with education, youth 
support and other networks 
working with children and young 
people to identify those 
vulnerable to entering or 
remaining in cyber-crime activity 

 

• Work with the business sector 
to promote Cyber Essentials 
and programmes of support as 
a means of protecting 
businesses from cyber crime 

• Work with the education 
sector to develop 
opportunities for raising 
awareness of cybercrime with 
students 

• Work with the business and 
education sector to provide 
advice on recovery after a 
cyber-attack and encourage 
businesses to develop 
business continuity plans 

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 
 

Safer Cyber Working Group Action Plan 

P
age 138



    

32 
  

Enabling factors 
There are a number of enabling factors that are relevant to all actions in this strategy to ensure that 
it is delivered. 

Strategic focus 

• Engage in cross cutting activity that enables access to external funding 

• Aligned community priorities to strategic needs 

• Develop innovative and effective interventions 

Communication 

• Marketing and Communications takes place in collaboration across all organisations 

• Effective information sharing protocols 

• Promoting success 

Performance Management 

• Strong analysis available to inform the local approach  

• Performance framework to enable monitoring against outcomes, targets and delivery plan 

• Comprehensive data sharing among partners  

• Robust evaluation/assessment of utilised interventions 

Knowledge and skills 

• Upskilling through shared knowledge and expertise 

• Understanding partners roles and priorities 

• Making use of all available tools and powers within the Home Office guidance and partner 
agencies 

Partnership working 

• Shared resources 

• Learning from best practice and commitment to replicate across the County and the 
community to be able to respond appropriately 

• Working towards co-commissioning of services where appropriate. 

• Collaboration takes place within the public, private and voluntary sector 

• Joint commissioning and pooling budgets where appropriate 

Community Engagement 

• Engagement with communities  

• A cohesive and integrated society where there is confidence to report issues 

• Well established community groups willing to work with partners  

Page 139



    

33 
  

Performance Management Framework 
While this Plan is ultimately owned by the Safe Durham Partnership, it is the sub groups which have 
a role in managing the associated actions, ensuring that they are delivered, as well as responding to 
any emerging trends or changes in crime and disorder patterns. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership has in place a Performance Management Framework structured 
around the strategic priorities.  In addition to performance measures linked to the strategic 
priorities, the framework includes key indicators of crime for the Safe Durham Partnership to 
monitor activity trends in this area.   
  
Performance management arrangements of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan are refreshed on an 
annual basis and incorporated into the Safe Durham Partnership Performance Management 
Framework.  This ensures responsibility and accountability of the strategic actions within the Plan. 
  
In addition, each group which supports the work of the Safe Durham Partnership has a specific 
action plan and performance management framework that directly supports the delivery of the 
Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 
 
Each priority within the strategic plan has a separate S.M.A.R.T. (Specific, measureable, achievable, 
realistic and timed) delivery plan that is owned by a thematic sub group and monitored regularly by 
the Safe Durham Partnership through the chairs of each sub group. 
  

Page 140



    

34 
  

Appendix 1: Priorities and links to other partnership strategic plans.  

 

Safe Durham Partnership priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans 
 

Safe Durham Partnership  Children and Young 
People’s Strategy 2019-22 

Safeguarding Adults 
Board Strategic Plan 
2018-21 

Durham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 
Business Plan 2019-20 

County Durham 
Housing Strategy 
July 2019 

Durham County Council 
Homelessness Strategy 
2019-22 

Promote being safe and 
feeling safe in your 
community 
  

 Prevention and early 
intervention 

 Maintain and 
improve 
standards across 
County Durham’s 
housing stock and 
wider housing 
environment 

 

Support victims and 
protect vulnerable 
people from harm 
 

Protect and support those 
children and young people 
in need of help and 
protection. 

Prevention and early 
intervention 

Reducing Child Sexual 
Exploitation/ Criminal 
Exploitation and  
Neglect 

To provide 
housing advice, 
assistance & 
support for older 
& Vulnerable 
People 

Provide a range of 
support services to 
reduce the risk of 
households becoming 
homeless 

Prevent Counter 
Terrorism, Radicalisation 
and Violent Extremism 

 Prevention and early 
intervention 

Prevent children and 
young people from 
being drawn into 
terrorism.  

  

Reduce Re-offending 
 

Provide support for young 
people who have offended 
or been victims of crime 

    

Alcohol and Substance 
Misuse Reduction 
 

Improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for 
children with a specific 
focus on vulnerable 
children and young people 
(5-24) 

    

Tackle and prevent cyber 
enabled crime 

     P
age 141



    

35 
  

 

Safe Durham Partnership priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans 

 

Safe Durham Partnership  Durham Police, Crime and Victims 
Plan 2018-21 
 

Cleveland and Durham 
Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership Plan 2018-21 

Youth Justice Plan 2019-21 Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020-25 

Promote being safe and 
feeling safe in your 
community 
  

Tackle and prevent hate crime 
 
Prevent and tackle anti-social 
behaviour 
 
Improve community safety in rural 
areas 

High public confidence in 
the criminal justice system 

 Living Well and Ageing Well 

Support victims and protect 
vulnerable people from harm 
 

Tackle and prevent domestic abuse 
and sexual violence in all their forms  
 
Tackle and prevent fraud 
 
Tackle and prevent modern slavery  
 
Ensure that victims are supported at 
all stages of the criminal justice 
system 

Positive outcomes for 
victims and witnesses 

Putting victims, especially 
young victims, and 
Restorative Justice at the 
heart of everything we do 

Starting Well, Living Well and 
Ageing Well 

Prevent Counter Terrorism, 
Radicalisation and Violent 
Extremism 

Safeguard vulnerable people   Living Well and Ageing Well 

Reduce Re-offending 
 

Address the root causes of offending 
and support the rehabilitation of 
people who have offended 

Reduce intergenerational 
and repeat offending 

Targeting our resources on 
those young people 
committing the most 
offences 

Living Well and Ageing Well 

Alcohol and Substance 
Misuse Reduction 
 

Reduce the harm caused by alcohol 
and drugs 
 

  Living Well and Ageing Well 

Tackle and prevent cyber 
enabled crime 

Tackle and prevent cyber-enabled 
crime  
 

  Living Well and Ageing Well 

P
age 142



    

36 
  

 

 

Please ask us if you would like this document 
summarised in another language or format.  

  

  03000 260 000          help@durham.gov.uk 
  
           Braille                Audio                 Large print  

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

9th January 2020

Draft Safe Durham Partnership Plan

2020-2025
Andrea Petty

Strategic Manager – Partnerships

Andy Bailey

Partnerships Team Leader

P
age 145



Vision 2035
The Vision 2035 was developed with partners for the next 15 
years with three strategic ambitions:

(a) More and Better jobs

(b) People live long and independent lives

(c) Connected communities

P
age 146



The Safe Durham Partnership Vision

‘A county where every adult and child will feel and be safe’

P
age 147



The Safe Durham Partnership has six strategic priorities which set out what we 
will focus on:

• Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community 

• Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm

• Prevent: Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent Extremism

• Reduce reoffending

• Alcohol and substance misuse reduction

• Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 

P
age 148



Strategic Priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community key messages 

P
age 149



Strategic Priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your 
community by focusing on the following work areas:-

• Anti-social Behaviour

• Safer Homes

• Hate Crime and Community Tensions

Examples of the key deliverables are:

• Focus on redesigning our response to high demand areas including deliberate fires, fly tipping, 

derelict/ abandoned properties and horses in order to be more effective in combatting these 

issues

• Ensure referrals for target hardening properties for a specific need i.e. domestic violence, 

harassment, self-neglect, hoarding for those most vulnerable

• Increase reporting of hate incidents through the Hate Hurts Campaign

P
age 150



Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm key messages 

P
age 151



Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people 
from harm by focusing on the following work areas:-

• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence

• Organised Crime; County Lines

• Victims

Examples of the key deliverables are:

• Continue to monitor and meet standards in respect of risk and needs assessment to 
ensure the needs of people affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence are met

• Work with the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership to raise awareness with staff 
and partners of what is county lines, what to look for and where to report concerns and 
intelligence

• Deliver positive outcomes for victims and witnesses

P
age 152



Strategic Priority 3: Prevent Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent Extremism key messages 

P
age 153



Strategic Priority 3: Prevent Counter Terrorism, Radicalisation and 
Violent Extremism by focusing on the following work areas:-

• Prevent people being drawn into terrorism

• Support the work to strengthen our protection against terrorist attacks and mitigate 
the impact of such an attack

Examples of the key deliverables are:

• Deliver a wide range of PREVENT awareness raising to staff of specified authorities and 
the child care sector to ensure they know how to recognise when someone is 
vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and understand how to refer them for support 
and intervention

• Raise awareness of the importance of reporting suspicious incidents among 
professionals and the community

P
age 154



Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Re-offending key messages 

P
age 155



Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Re-offending by focusing on the 
following work areas:-

• Prevent inter-generational offending

• Prevent repeat offending

Examples of the key deliverables are:-

• Identify those at risk of offending and ensure appropriate support is in place to break the 
cycle of intergenerational offending

• Support the development and use of the Restorative Justice (RJ) Hub

P
age 156



Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction key messages 

P
age 157



Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction by focusing 
on the following work areas:-

• Prevention and early intervention

• Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery

• Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk

• Strengthening leadership, management and governance

Examples of the key deliverables are:-

• Contribute to the reduction of the availability and supply of illicit drugs and counterfeit 
alcohol addressing community perceptions

• Provide drug and alcohol specialist services to provide holistic package of care within a 
range of settings

• Contribute to the effectiveness of safeguarding and risk management arrangements for 
children, young people and adults where substance misuse is a factor, including overdose 
and substance misuse related death, those at risk of domestic abuse 

and sexual exploitation.

• Prioritise the voice of the service user voice via the County Durham

Recovery Forum to make sure the service is effective

P
age 158



Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled key messages 

P
age 159



Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime by 
focusing on the following work areas:-

• Raise awareness of the general population about staying safe online

• Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups

• Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of cyber crime

Examples of the key deliverables are:-

• Deliver awareness raising sessions of the risks and threats of cybercrime

• Collaborate with other partnerships to widely embed cyber-crime and exploit 
opportunities for joint working  

• Work with the business sector to promote Cyber Essentials and programmes of support 
as a means of protecting businesses from cyber crime

P
age 160



Consultation Next Steps
• Durham County Council website from 17th December 2019 to 14th

February 2020. 

• The consultation will include the following groups:
• Protected Characteristic groups 

• Voluntary & Community Sector

• Area Action Partnerships

• Town & Parish Councils

• SSC Overview & Scrutiny Committee

P
age 161



Consultation Questions

Do you agree with each of the strategic priorities in the plan?

Are there any gaps?

Do you have any further comments about the Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan?

P
age 162



         

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

9 January 2020     

Progress of Recommendations 

following the Overview and Scrutiny

 Review of Cybercrime  

 

Report of Jane Robinson Corporate Director Adults & Health 
Services, Durham County Council. 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with progress of recommendations following the 
Committee’s review of Cybercrime and activity of the Safe Durham 
Partnership Safer Cyber Working Group.   

Executive summary 

2 The report provides information to conclusions from the Committee’s 
review on Cybercrime, progress on implementation of review 
recommendations and introduce a presentation on wider activity of the 
Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Group.   

Recommendation 

3 Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained 
within this report and comment accordingly. 

Background 

4 The Committee has a role to scrutinise the work of the Safe Durham 
Partnership. In 2017, Members agreed to undertake review activity 
looking at work in relation to cybercrime with a focus on partnership 
work being undertaken to prevent young people becoming engaged in 
cybercrime activity.  

5 At a national level, the National Crime Agency (NCA) are leading on a 
number of initiatives to prevent young people getting involved in 
cybercrime. Locally the Safe Durham Partnership’s Safer Cyber 
Working Group identified that locally, whilst work is very much active 
with victims of cybercrime, preventing young people becoming engaged 
in cybercrime was identified as a gap within their activity. 

Page 163

Agenda Item 9



6 This is a developing area and the review provides an opportunity to 
raise awareness of this issue and seek to identify improvements to 
reduce the risk of young people becoming involved in Cybercrime. 

7 The review gathered evidence through desktop research, meetings with 
officers from the Safe Durham Partnership, University of Sunderland, 
North East Regional Specialist Operations Unit and undertaken focus 
group activity.  Evidence and findings within the report are set within the 
context to preventing young people being vulnerable to getting involved 
in cybercrime activity and to seek more positive use of their skills. 

Review’s Conclusions and Recommendations 

8 Evidence gathered throughout the review has highlighted the potential 
impact of cybercrime or a cyber attack and that this is not a victimless 
crime. The average age of suspects arrested or cautioned by the NCA 
for cybercrime is 17 years old. Whilst it was acknowledged that is a 
minority of young people who commit these offences, throughout the 
review anecdotal evidence was provided by Members, Officers and 
Police Cadets of awareness to incidents of hacking by young people.  

9 It was highlighted that the motivations for undertaking this activity are 
not always financial. Some see it as a challenge and are unaware they 
are committing a criminal offence. In addition, offenders perceive the 
risk of being caught was low and there was a limited understanding of 
the consequences of the law and committing an offence.   

10 There is a structured approach to tackling cybercrime and contributing 
to the delivery of the Government’s National Cyber Security Strategy at 
a national, regional and local level. The review is also timely with 
consultation on priorities for the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. The 
Committee have identified they fully support cybercrime as an objective 
within the plan.  

11 At a national level there is a wide range of educational resources and 
engagement activity available to schools. It is positive that within the 
past year, a small number of schools in the county have participated in 
the Cyber Security Challenge UK event. An area for development could 
be to have a co-ordinated approach to the use of educational resources 
and consideration should also be given to the development of a cyber-
safety event and campaign in Durham.  

12 Furthermore, effective provision of careers advice could lead to 
encouragement in using cyber skills more positively for career 
opportunities within cyber security industry. There was information 
provided that engagement between the Safe Durham Partnership and 

Page 164



County Durham Economic Partnership had just begun with regard to 
cybersecurity apprenticeships within the County.  

13 The review’s key findings focus on strategic context looking at national 
and local approaches to cybercrime and prevention through education 
and awareness, apprenticeships and careers and approaches to 
prevent young people from remaining in cybercrime activity and 
identifies recommendations for the Safe Durham Partnership and the 
Council.  

14 The Committee’s report was presented by Cllr Liddle to Cabinet in May 
2018 and the Safe Durham Partnership in July 2018 and included the 
following recommendations:  

(a) That the Safe Durham Partnership Board note the content of this 
report and include as an action the prevention of people 
becoming cybercrime offenders within the Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan priority objective of Cybercrime.  

(b) That the Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Working Group 
give consideration to holding further focus group sessions with 
Durham Constabulary’s Police Cadets and with young people 
with a specific interest in coding or programming to improve 
young people’s awareness to the Computer Misuse Act and its 
implications. 

(c) That the Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Working Group 
note findings of an anticipated report from the University of Bath, 
NCA and Research Autism into exploring any links between 
autism and cybercrime and consider any actions as 
recommended.  

(d) That the Children and Young People’s Services note the 
availability of education and awareness resources and working 
with partners within the Safe Durham Partnership’s Safer Cyber 
Working Group consider development of a co-ordinated approach 
within schools to raise awareness to the consequences of forms 
of hacking, the Computer Misuse Act and use of careers advice 
to promote skills in a more positive way.   

(e) That the Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Working Group 
explore the feasibility of a cyber-safety engagement event with 
schools similar to the Partnership’s Wisedrive/Safety Carousel 
event of which awareness to the consequences of the Computer 
Misuse Act and hacking is one of the workshops. 

(f) That the Safe Durham Partnership Safer Cyber Working Group 
give consideration to undertaking a campaign to promote the 

Page 165



risks of undertaking cybercrime activity and to explore the viability 
of producing a video resource that could together with the NCA 
Cyberchoices videos be shown within schools and at events. 

(g) That the Safe Durham Partnership explore opportunities for the 
development of IT/Cybersecurity apprenticeships within 
organisations and companies within County Durham with the 
County Durham Economic Partnership.   

(h) Respond within the six month period for a systematic review of 
the recommendations. 

15 At its meeting in February 2019, the Committee received a progress 
report on implementation of the review’s recommendations. In 
summary, recommendation (b) had been completed and work was 
progressing with the remaining recommendations.   

16 Appendix 2 to this report provides progress on each of these 
recommendations and Detective Inspector Stephanie Bird, Chair of the 
Safer Cyber Group will be in attendance at the Committee’s meeting to 
present an update on these recommendations through a presentation 
attached in Appendix 3 that also includes wider activity of the Safer 
Cyber Group.  

Main implications 

Crime and Disorder   

17 The report includes information that aims to contribute to the Altogether 
Safer element of the Council Plan and Safe Durham Partnership Plan.   

Conclusion 

18 The attached report and presentation provide an opportunity for 
Members to consider and comment on progress on implementation of 
recommendations from the Committee’s review on cybercrime and 
activity of the Safer Cyber Working Group.   

Background papers 

  None 

Other useful documents 

 Overview and Scrutiny Review, Cybercrime, Cabinet May 2018 

 Progress of Recommendations following the Overview and 
Scrutiny Review of Cybercrime, February 2019  

Page 166



Contact: Andrea Petty 

Jonathan Slee 

Tel: 03000 267312 

Tel:  03000 268142 

  

Page 167



   

   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Climate Change  

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

The report includes information that will contribute to objectives within the 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 168



 

Appendix 2:  Overview and Scrutiny Working Group Report – Cybercrime – Review of Recommendations   

 

Review Recommendation Progress Report of Action taken to implement 
recommendation 

Lead Timescale 

a That the Safe Durham Partnership 
Board note the content of this report 
and include as an action the 
prevention of people becoming 
cybercrime offenders within the 
Safe Durham Partnership Plan 
priority objective of Cybercrime.  

The Scrutiny report was considered by the Safer 

Cyber Working Group (formerly Cyber Crime Task 

Group). This recommendation has been 

incorporated within the Safer Cyber Working 

Group Action Plan.  

In turn further review of the actions has seen a 

further increase in community awareness 

campaigns through better coordination with 

Durham Police and Get Safe Online. Activities 

included: 

1) Support for North East Regions Operations 

Unit Business breakfasts with Waterson’s to 

raise awareness of cybercrime 

2) Development of community based 

initiatives between the PCVC, Durham 

Police and DCC Area Action Partnerships. 

For example the Meet the Detective events. 

3) Other community focussed activity 

included: 

Safe Durham 
Partnership  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2020 
 
  
 

P
age 169



Review Recommendation Progress Report of Action taken to implement 
recommendation 

Lead Timescale 

o GSOL Week – Bikewise (22nd July; 

20,000 attended) 
o Superhero event (PCVC) 

b That the Safe Durham Partnership 
Cybercrime task group give 
consideration to holding further 
focus group sessions with Durham 
Constabulary’s Police Cadets and 
with young people with a specific 
interest in coding or programming to 
improve young people’s awareness 
to the Computer Misuse Act and its 
implications. 

2018-2019 has seen a specific focus on young 
people initiatives with significant activities within 
schools but also increasing awareness with new 
partnerships with New College, Durham. 
 
An initial programme was led with the Police 
Cadets and delivered to Police cadets and their 
parents on 15th November 2018.  
 
The sessions delivered advice and awareness on 
both Cyber Protect and Prevent. The workshop 
further discussed the computer misuse act, 
consequences of offending and gave tips to stay 
safe online. 
 
This initial pilot delivered to 24 cadets and 12 
adults  
 
Further work is currently underway by Durham 
Police to develop a comprehensive programme in 
conjunction with Durham Police Cadets. 

Durham 
Constabulary 

November 
2018 

c That the Safe Durham Partnership 
Cybercrime task group note findings 
of an anticipated report from the 
University of Bath, NCA and 
Research Autism into exploring any 
links between autism and 

Further contact with the university has been made 
and the work is now complete. The Safer Cyber 
Working Group will discuss the findings and any 
additional areas of work at its next meeting in 
2020. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership 

12th February 
2020 

P
age 170



Review Recommendation Progress Report of Action taken to implement 
recommendation 

Lead Timescale 

cybercrime and consider any 
actions as recommended. 

d That the Children and Young 
People’s Services note the 
availability of education and 
awareness resources and working 
with partners within the Safe 
Durham Partnership’s Cybercrime 
task group consider development of 
a co-ordinated approach within 
schools to raise awareness to the 
consequences of forms of hacking, 
the Computer Misuse Act and use 
of careers advice to promote skills 
in a more positive way 

CYPS are taking an active role in helping to keep 
young people in County Durham safe. CYPS 
recognises that young people are very skilled in 
the use of new technology and that this can be 
used for both positive and negative reasons. 
CYPS have highlighted the cyber-prevent strategy 
to computing subject leads in secondary and at 
head teacher briefings at primary level.  The new 
‘Hack’ video resource produced with New College 
Durham will form the basis for a schools 
programme currently in development. 

CYPS February/March 
2020. 

e That the Safe Durham Partnership 
Cybercrime Task Group explore the 
feasibility of a cyber-safety 
engagement event with schools 
similar to the Partnership’s 
Wisedrive/Safety Carousel event of 
which awareness to the 
consequences of the Computer 
Misuse Act and hacking is one of 
the workshops. 

Children and Young People’s Services and 

Durham Police have continued a proactive 

approach to awareness raising and coordinating 

young people led safer cyber activity. Examples 

include: 

o Safety Carousels – Secondary School 

o Princes Trust (Rolling on Cohorts) 

 

CYPS / 
Durham 
Constabulary 

Annual  

f That the Safe Durham Partnership 
Cybercrime Task Group give 
consideration to undertaking a 
campaign to promote the risks of 
undertaking cybercrime activity and 

‘HACK’ video has been produced by students of 
New College Durham with the help of funding from 
both the PCVC and DCC which is to be used as a 
resource with schools. 

Safer Cyber 
Working 
Group 

February/March 
2020 

P
age 171



Review Recommendation Progress Report of Action taken to implement 
recommendation 

Lead Timescale 

to explore the viability of producing 
a video resource that could together 
with the NCA Cyberchoices videos 
be shown within schools and at 
events 

 

This was shown initially to Framwellgate School 
students at the launch event in September ’19 with 
positive feedback. 
A work programme for roll out to schools is in 
development. 

g That the Safe Durham Partnership 
explore opportunities for the 
development of IT/Cybersecurity 
apprenticeships within organisations 
and companies within County 
Durham with the County Durham 
Economic Partnership.   

Discussions took place at the February Safer 
Cyber Group meeting: 
 

 New College, Durham circulated 
information regarding the Foundation 
Degree (FdSc) Cyber Security at New 
College Durham and provided details of the 
qualifications and education background 
required to enrol in the course.  

 

 Uptake has steadily increased over 
previous years from only three students to 
31 this year.   

 

 The importance of micro, small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SME’s) who 
have now started recruiting and it is 
expected that this will continue to grow.  

 

 There are also fully funded Cyber First 
residential course for young people. 

Safer Cyber 
Working 
Group 

Complete 
February 2019 

 

 

P
age 172



Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

9th January 2020

Safer Cyber

Working Group update
DI Stephanie Bird

DSU & Digital Investigations & Intelligence Unit Manager

Durham Constabulary

Chair of the Safer Cyber 

Working Group

P
age 173



Strategic Priority 6 Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime

Work Areas Raise awareness of the general 

population about staying safe online

Reduce risk to the most vulnerable 

groups

Build resilience of local 

businesses of the threat of cyber 

crime

Core Deliverables • Deliver awareness raising sessions 

of the risks and threats of 

cybercrime

• Deliver a general understanding 

about digital hygiene through 

events, seminars, marketing and 

communications 

• Increase awareness of those in the 

public, voluntary and community 

sectors about protecting clients 

from becoming a victim

• Increase confidence to report 

incidents of cyber-crime 

• Collaborate with other 

partnerships to widely embed 

cyber-crime and exploit 

opportunities for joint working  

• Work with the voluntary and 

community sector to identify 

means of communicating digital 

hygiene to those who have 

particular vulnerabilities (e.g. 

older people)

• Work with education, youth 

support and other networks 

working with children and young 

people to identify those 

vulnerable to entering or 

remaining in cyber-crime activity

• Work with the business sector 

to promote Cyber Essentials 

and programmes of support as 

a means of protecting 

businesses from cyber crime

• Work with the education 

sector to develop 

opportunities for raising 

awareness of cybercrime with 

students

• Work with the business and 

education sector to provide 

advice on recovery after a 

cyber-attack and encourage 

businesses to develop 

business continuity plans

Delivery plan mechanism Safer Cyber Working Group Action Plan

P
age 174



Raise awareness of the general population about 
staying safe online

North East CrimesStoppers

Community Safety Roadshows

P
age 175



Raise awareness of the general population about 
staying safe online

Internal training/ awareness within Durham Constabulary including:

•Digital hygiene training to all Durham Constabulary staff and officers.

•Do it Well, Do it Right to Police Officers.

•Police Shift & Front Counter staff briefings so staff have cyber security knowledge.

•Cyber newsletter sent out quarterly to all staff.

•DII intranet tile

P
age 176



Raise awareness of the general population about 
staying safe online

•Delivered to UnstinovCollege at Durham University for international women’s group on 14th

November

•Bikewise-Interactive stall offering advice and VR experiences.

•Delivered to loads of WI groups including their Northern Yearly meeting with over 200 people 
in attendance.

•KarbonHomes Community Engagement Officers.

•Protect and Prevent advice delivered in schools to staff, pupil and parents.

P
age 177



Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups

“HACK”  Video – In partnership with New College Durham.

Fearless Crime Stoppers Campaign.

Young Friends Against Scams 

Scam Marshals

P
age 178



Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups

The Cyber Protect and Prevent team attended a Youth in 
Mind Carousel and delivered Cyber safety and security 
advice to vulnerable young people working with Youth 
Offending.

Working with the Safeguarding team in Darlington to 
deliver PROTECT advice to parents/carers of vulnerable 
and at risk of CSE individuals.

Delivered to Consett Churches Youth Detached Project 
workers.

Working with Princes Trust to 

deliver a session to each new cohort.

P
age 179



Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups
Fearless Crime Stoppers Campaign.

P
age 180



Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of 
cyber crime

New College and IT apprenticeship opportunities

IT Apprenticeships and Cyber Safety

‘TechUP women’

Durham Constabulary Cyber Protect Team and NERCCU Protect Team delivering Cyber Security 
sessions to Durham University and local businesses

P
age 181



Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of 
cyber crime

P
age 182



Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of 
cyber crime

P
age 183



Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of 
cyber crime

Durham Cyber Protect team and NERSOU

Protect team, are delivering the Lego game

to businesses and Universities.

This game lets businesses make choices

about what cyber security to implement and

shows possible consequences following

their decisions.

Business breakfasts

Promote use of the CiSP

P
age 184



Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of 
cyber crime

P
age 185



Update on Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recommendations

c) That the Safe Durham Partnership Cybercrime task group note findings of an 
anticipated report from the University of Bath, NCA and Research Autism into 
exploring any links between autism and cybercrime and consider any actions as 
recommended.

d) That the Children and Young People’s Services note the availability of 
education and awareness resources and working with partners within the Safe 
Durham Partnership’s Cybercrime task group consider development of a co-
ordinated approach within schools to raise awareness to the consequences of 
forms of hacking, the Computer Misuse Act and use of careers advice to 
promote skills in a more positive way.

P
age 186



Update on Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recommendations cont…

f) That the Safe Durham Partnership Cybercrime Task Group give consideration 
to undertaking a campaign to promote the risks of undertaking cybercrime 
activity and to explore the viability of producing a video resource that could 
together with the NCA Cyberchoices videos be shown within schools and at 
events.

g) That the Safe Durham Partnership explore opportunities for the development 
of IT/Cybersecurity apprenticeships within organisations and companies within 
County Durham with the County Durham Economic Partnership. 

P
age 187



Any Questions?

P
age 188



 

      

         

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

9 January 2020 

 Quarter Two, 2019/20 

Performance Management Report  

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving those key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework aligned to the Safer and 
Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

2 The performance report which sets out progress to the council’s 
corporate performance framework in its entirety can be found here. 

Performance Reporting 

3 Following an extensive public consultation programme, a shared vision 
for the county for the next 15 years has been developed with partners. 
This vision, agreed by Council on 23 October and formally launched at 
the County Durham Partnership event on 25 October, is structured 
around three externally focused results-based ambitions of ‘more and 
better jobs’, ‘long and independent lives’ and ‘connected communities’ 
(link). 

4 As the Council has now adopted this vision, it is appropriate to modify 
the format of our performance reports to align to our new ambitions. This 
quarter, as a first step, existing performance information has been 
realigned to the three new ambitions plus a fourth ‘better council’ theme. 
Over the coming months, we will review the report to ensure it captures 
all elements of the new vision, as well as monitoring progress in 
improving how the council works. 

Executive summary 

5 Although the quarter two performance report for this committee 
(attached at Appendix 2) remains structured around the same set of key 
questions, they have been realigned to the ambitions of our new vision. 

Page 189

Agenda Item 10

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s116731/4%20Performance%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s116731/4%20Performance%20Report.pdf
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30079/Durham-2035-Vision-document/pdf/Durham2035-Vision2.pdf?m=636965348657970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30079/Durham-2035-Vision-document/pdf/Durham2035-Vision2.pdf?m=636965348657970000


Connected Communities 

6 The ambition of ‘connected communities’ centres on building welcoming, 
accepting and supportive communities. This includes creating town and 
village centres which are well-used, clean, attractive and safe.  

7 Overall crime levels remain relatively static and are below our most 
similar group and national average, but for some categories (violence 
against the person, shoplifting, criminal damage and arson) County 
Durham is recording high levels. We believe much of these increases, 
as well as increases in alcohol and drug related crime, domestic 
violence repeat referrals and hate crime, is due to improved recording 
compliance. We are using focused improvement plans, initiatives and 
interventions to mitigate against the challenges we face. For example, 
two dedicated neighbourhood wardens now patrol Durham City centre, 
we are putting in place a multi-agency training programme in relation to 
licensing, have implemented a plan for student fresher week in relation 
to water safety and started planning for the 2020 cold-water shock 
campaign. 

Risk Management 

8 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects.   

Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm.   

Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in 
addition to the severe impacts on service users, will result in serious 
damage to the council’s reputation and to relationships with its 
safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency 
Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking 
forward actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a 
comprehensive training programme for staff and regular supervision 
takes place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed 
regularly.  

Recommendation 

9 That Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considers the overall position and direction of travel in 
relation to quarter two performance, and the actions being taken to 
address areas of underperformance. 

Contact: Jenny Haworth, Head of Strategy Tel:  03000 268 071 

Page 190



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate emergency and consider the implications of 

climate change in our reports and decision making 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 191



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank

Page 192



Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Two, 2019/20

Appendix 2 

Page 193



Connected Communities - Safer 

1 The ambition of Connected Communities – Safer is linked to the following key 

questions: 

(a) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

(b) How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

(c) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

(d) How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 

abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation? 

(e) How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and Anti-Social 

Behaviour (ASB)?  

2 Following increases over recent years, the overall crime level remains 

relatively static. Generally, crime rates are below the most similar group and 

national average except for violence against the person, shoplifting, criminal 

damage and arson where Durham has relatively high levels. This can be at 

least partly explained by improved compliance with National Crime Recording 

Standards by Durham Constabulary, rated ‘good’ in their Crime Data Integrity 

Inspection which found 91.5% of crimes were recorded correctly. 

3 Violence against the person, the most frequently recorded crime, mainly 

consists of violence without injury. Trends are showing a levelling out of 

violence against the person crimes, in line with the changes in recording 

practices referred to above. 

4 Although overall theft, the second most frequently reported crime, has 

remained static, shoplifting continues to increase. Shoplifting has also seen a 

six percentage point reduction in the resolved rate. Increases have been seen 

in Newton Aycliffe, Stanley and Spennymoor.  

5 The reduction in the resolved rate in shoplifting is reflected across the majority 

of crime categories. However, national comparison (July 18 to June 19) shows 

Durham Constabulary are ranked in the top three forces nationally for 14 of 

the 16 crime types. Resolved rates for Durham are higher than both the 

national and most similar force average for every crime type and in some 

cases two or three times higher, for example, burglary and other theft, 

respectively. 

 

Page 194



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

(a) How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and (b) anti-social behaviour?      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

all recorded crime

+882

+2%

violence 
against the 

person

+ 1,203

+ 6% theft 
offences

+19

+0%

criminal 
damage & 

arson

- 217

- 3%sexual 
offences

- 45

-3%

robbery

-198

-10%

other crimes 
against 
society

-258 

-4%

51,303 
crimes 

27,363 
ASB incidents 

13,418 
council reported 

+995 
 (+8%) 

13,945 
police reported 

-637 
 (-4%) 

97.3 crimes per 

1,000 population   

*now includes Environmental Health & 
Consumer Protection Noise 

1 October 2018  -  30 September 2019 

compared to same period the previous year P
age 195



6 Over the past 12 months the repeat victim rate has remained between 31-

33%. 1,230 repeat victims accounted for 5% of all recorded crime in the 12 

months to the end of August 2019. Based on the ONS harm score, victims at 

highest risk are reviewed and interventions or management plans are put in 

place. The Police are due to commence ‘Do it right, do it better’ training which 

will include the importance of victim care and victim support including 

restorative approaches.    

7 In April 2019 Durham Constabulary implemented the Park, Walk and Talk 

initiative, where in certain crime and anti-social behaviour hot spots police 

officers get out of their vehicles and talk to people. Intelligence based on 

Neighbourhood Inspector experience and research and analysis of the most 

common location over the last six months for crime related and anti-social 

behaviour incidents are being used to identify areas for this initiative.  

8 Police benchmarking data (December 2018) show that criminal damage and 

arson in Durham is higher than the most similar group average.   

 

9 Following concerns raised by Durham City Safety Group in response to issues 

from businesses and shoppers, the council has appointed two dedicated 

neighbourhood wardens to patrol Durham City centre to tackle the behaviour 

of a small group of troublemakers. The two wardens are carrying out regular 

patrols as well as being on hand to deal with any incidents that occur. They 

will work closely with businesses, visitors and residents to offer reassurance 

and support. Their work includes looking at how troublemakers can be 

deterred from meeting in problem areas as well as closer monitoring of CCTV 

in the city centre. 

Page 196



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(c) How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol and (d) tackle abuse of vulnerable people? 

 

 

 

Successful completion of treatment… 
(March 18 to February 19 with reps to Aug 19) 

 • 30% (302)

• Target 28%

• England 37.9%

Alcohol

• 6.3% (94)

• Target 6%

• England 5.8%

Opiates

• 30.7% (228)

• Target 26.4%

• England 34.5%

Non-
opiates

1 Apr 2019 – 30 Sep 2019 

Compared to same period 

the previous year 

*police 

figures 

only 

 

16.8% 
ASB* alcohol related 

1.9% 
ASB* drug related  

30% 
violent crime alcohol related 

1.3 pp  

15.7%

17.3% 16.8%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

% alcohol related anti-social behaviour 
(12 months rolling total)

Domestic Violence 
(Sep 19)

 4.3% in incidents 

 5.6pp in DV 
incidents classified as 

crimes 

 12.5% in incidents 
involving alcohol

 5.2% of DV referrals 
received high risk

(quarter four)

 6.6pp in repeat 
referrals to Harbour 

within 12 month period

Operation Encompass in every County Durham 
school

 42 (-24%) 
compared to same 

period last year 

 

3
6

.6
%

3
7

.0
%

3
8

.9
%

3
8

.3
%

3
6

.7
%

3
9

.4
%

4
0

.2
%

3
8

.6
%

3
3

.4
% 3
9

%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Reported violence against the person (VAP) 
crimes with a domestic abuse qualifier

(rolling total)

P
age 197



10 It is difficult to identify whether there is a link between trends in shoplifting and 

rollout of Universal Credit without DWP data. Working with Durham 

Constabulary, we have examined localised crime data in relation to shoplifting, 

compared with the phased roll out of Universal Credit and concluded that two 

areas, Crook and Spennymoor, demonstrated significantly higher levels of 

shoplifting compared with previous years and continuing increasing trends as 

opposed to initial spikes1. 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

11 In the 12 months to the end of August 2019, the number and proportion of 

alcohol related crimes/incidents has increased in most categories. This is 

despite a fall in crime and incident levels in the majority of categories. The 

Crime Survey for England and Wales data for the 12 months to March 2019 

shows that 9.5% of the public said there is a very/fairly big problem with 

‘people being drunk or rowdy in public places’ in County Durham, which 

ranked Durham 11th lowest out of 42 forces (Metropolitan Police and City of 

London are combined). This is a slight increase on December 2018. 

12 Durham Constabulary are delivering an ongoing programme of training to 

Neighbourhood Policing Team Inspectors and Sergeants regarding the 

Licensing Act, the section 182 guidance (statutory guidance from the 

Secretary of State to local authorities in relation to the discharging of their 

responsibilities under the Licensing Act) and the local Statement of Licensing 

Policy. There will also be a programme of four week attachments for key 

Neighbourhood Policing Team Sergeants to be Licensing Champions in their 

areas which is anticipated to be complete by March 2020.  

13 Alcohol related Police reported anti-social behaviour continues to decrease 

with an 11% reduction in the first six months of 2019/20 compared to 2018/19. 

This reduction is reflected across all areas of County Durham to varying 

extents with the exception of Bishop Auckland and Durham City. 

14 The number of drug related crimes / incidents has increased in most 

categories. Although the numbers are low, the number of drug related 

possession of weapons has doubled when compared with 2018 and now 

account for 12% of possession offences; and drug related violence against the 

person accounts for around 34% of all drug related crime in the 12 months to 

August 2019. 

 

                                         
1 Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues, Oct 2019, OSMB 

Page 198

http://mgov:9070/documents/s114974/102219-COSMB-Item8-WR-Poverty-Rpt.pdf
http://mgov:9070/documents/s114974/102219-COSMB-Item8-WR-Poverty-Rpt.pdf


How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including 

domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

15 Following continued increases over the past three years, domestic abuse 

incidents reported to the police have fallen this quarter by 4% however levels 

remain higher than in 2017/18.   

16 Repeat referral to the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 

continue to show a longer-term increasing trend with approximately one in five 

being repeat referral this quarter. 

17 Durham Constabulary has refreshed the Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation 

Profile, examining the nature and scale of Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation 

in County Durham. The number of reported Sexual offences (including 

indecent images) with a victim under-18 has increased by 104% over the last 

5 years. This is in part affected by the drive for better National Crime 

Recording Standards recording compliance, and victims of historic crimes who 

are increasingly coming forward to report offences. The amount of child 

victims of sexual offences as a proportion of all recorded sexual offences has 

remained fairly stable across 5 years. 76% of sexual offences against children 

since 2016 resulted in ‘No Further Action’.  

18 The Vulnerability Intervention Pathways (VIP) programme has secured 

additional funding to continue providing support to adults with no parental 

responsibility who require a multi-agency response because of presenting 

problems, support needs and repeat requirements for services. In the six 

months to August 2019 there have been 117 VIP referrals; with mental health, 

accommodation and alcohol being the most common issues. 

19 There were 908 hate crimes recorded in the 12 months to the end of August 

2019, although this is the same as to the end of August 2018 it is 30% higher 

than the same period in 2016. Analysis shows that race followed by religion 

remain the two most common factors, however, sexual orientation, gender and 

alternative lifestyles have seen year-on-year increases. East Durham has the 

largest amount of offences (314) accounting for 35% of all recorded hate 

crime; whilst the largest increases were seen in Bishop Auckland (32, +62%). 

20 The Crown Prosecution Service has shared their proposed Hate Crime 

Checklist with Durham Constabulary. This has been agreed between the 

Crown Prosecution Service and the National Police Chiefs Council but has not 

yet been given operational approval, however it is anticipated that once 

adopted there will be a drive to increase the number of evidence led 

(victimless) prosecutions.

Page 199



  Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions* 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

(e) How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways?  

 

 

 

 
People killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions* 

 

*CRASH recording 

system allows 

casualty 

information to be 

updated 

throughout the 

year and as such 

numbers and 

severity of injury 

can change. 2018 

data has been 

verified and can be 

used for 

comparative 

analysis, published 

by the Dft in June 

2019 

 

 

 
229 

17 fatalities 

212 injuries 

 
34 

0 fatalities 

34 injuries 

 

20 23 22
17

11
17

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Fatalities (rolling year)

182 188

140

201

152

212

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Serious Injuries (rolling year)

Road safety  
improvement 
 

£1.4 million scheme to improve safety 
at A19 / A179 / B1280 junction is now 
complete. 
Traffics lights installed. 
Speed limit reduced to 40mph. 

 

  Junior Road Safety 
  Officer (JRSO)  
  scheme 
 

Launched for a 5th year. 

This national programme aimed at 
primary schools encourages peer to 
peer education.  
Scheme helps schools recruit primary 
school pupils as JRSOs and teaches 
them valuable road safety messages, 
which they pass on to classmates.  

 

P
age 200



How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 

waterways?  

21 Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city 

centre and countywide, continue to meet. 

22 During quarter two, the City Safety Group continued to focus on issues 

specific to the city centre, including preparation for student fresher week. 

Safety and security arrangements were amended to adequately control the 

expected higher footfall and potential for queuing students. All licensed 

premises, outside of the Walkergate complex but within the vicinity of the river 

corridor, were asked to be vigilant for students unfamiliar with their 

surroundings and detached from their social group. We also distributed our 

night lights poster which highlights lit routes which people are advised to take 

when walking home after dark (link).   

23 From a countywide perspective, we evaluated our cold-water shock campaign 

and commenced planning for the 2020 campaign, which includes the intention 

to expand the social media and advertising methods previously deployed. 

24 In 2018, County Durham saw the lowest number of fatal, serious and slight 

injuries on the roads since records began in 1979. However, up to the end of 

September 2019, County Durham has already seen 13 fatalities compared to 

9 last year, and 172 serious injuries between January and September, 

compared to 154 in the whole of 2018. This trend is also reflected across the 

north east region.   

25 In relation to keeping our environment safe we took enforcement action 

against a pig farmer for breach of Animal Welfare Regulations. As a result, the 

farmer was sentenced to a 12-month community order comprising 300 hours 

of unpaid work and 15 rehabilitation days. The farmer was also disqualified 

from keeping pigs, horses, poultry and sheep, and was ordered to pay costs of 

£2,501.65 and a £85 victim surcharge. 

26 The work of our Pest Control team has been assessed as still meeting the 

highest industry standard and they have been given Confederation of 

European Pest Management Association certified status for the second year 

running.  

27 The Speedwatch Van project has been launched in partnership with all six 3 

Towns AAP elected members and Durham Constabulary in August 2019. The 

camera can register multiple vehicles at a time, making results more reliable 

compared to the traditional Speedwatch which relies on the accuracy of the 

volunteers’ eye.  Speeding incidents are sent straight through to a laptop 

Page 201

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/6231/Durham-City-Safety-Group-actions-and-achievements
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/6231/Durham-City-Safety-Group-actions-and-achievements


operated by volunteers in the front cabin of the van.  Warning letters are 

automatically generated by the van’s system and sent to the driver. This 

innovative scheme is the first one in the country.

Page 202



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables  

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-on-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, the number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 203

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description Latest data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

77 
First time entrants to the youth 
justice system aged 10 to 17 (per 
100,000 population aged 10 to 17)  

262 
Apr 18-
Mar 19 

Tracker 253 238 332 251 
 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN RED 

78 
Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

49.8 
Apr-Sep 

2019 

Tracker 51.0    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

79 
Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

13.7 
Apr-Sep 

2019 

Tracker 14    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

80 
Proportion of all offenders who re-
offend in a 12 month period (%) 

30.6 
Oct 16- 
Sep 17 

Tracker 32 29.4 35.5  
 No 

N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN  

81 
Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%) 

46.3 
Oct 16- 
Sep 17 

Tracker 41.6 39.2 41.7  
 No 

N/a RED RED RED  

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 
Dealing with concerns of ASB and 
crime issues (%) by the local council 
and police 

47.5 Jun 19 
Tracker 53   53.7 

 Yes 
N/a RED   RED 

83 
Number of police reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

7,611 
Apr-Sep 

2019  

Tracker 7,587    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

P
age 204



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

84 
Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

5,683 
Apr-Sep 

2019 

Tracker 5,791  
 

 
 

 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER 

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

85 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

30 
Mar 18-Feb 
19 with rep 
to Aug 19 

28 32 37.9   
 Yes 

GREEN RED RED   

86 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

6.3 
Mar 18-Feb 
19 with rep 
to Aug 19 

6 5.5 5.8   
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN   

87 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

30.7 
Mar 18-Feb 
19 with rep 
to Aug 19 

26.4 29.2 34.5   
 Yes 

GREEN  GREEN RED   

88 
% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

16.8 Sep 19 
Tracker 18.5    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

89 
% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related 

30 Sep 19 
Tracker 28.7    

 Yes 
N/a AMBER    

90 Alcohol seizures 194 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 No 

N/a GREEN    
 

P
age 205



CONNECTED COMMUNITIES – SAFER  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

91 
Building resilience to terrorism (self-
assessment). Scored on level 1 (low) to 5 
(high) 

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

92 
Number of child sexual exploitation 
referrals 

128 
Jul 18- 
Jun 19  

Tracker 191    
 No 

N/a N/a    

 

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES - SAFER 

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

93 
Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

229 
Oct 18- 
Sep 19 

Tracker 163    
 

Yes 
N/a RED    

 
- Number of fatalities 17  12    

 
- Number of seriously injured 212  151    

94 
Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

34 
Oct 18- 
Sep 19 

Tracker 17    
 

Yes 
N/a RED    

 
- Number of fatalities 0  0    

 
- Number of seriously injured 34  17    

 

 
 

 

P
age 206



Other Additional Relevant Indicators 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

27 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 

53.1 
2015/16-
2017/18 

Tracker 56.2 32.9 62.7  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

28 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of self-harm (rate 
per 100,000) 

350.1 2017/18 
Tracker 400.8 421.2 458.0  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

41 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population 

12.8 2016-18 
Tracker 12.0 9.6 11.3  

 Yes 
N/a RED RED RED  

 

LONG AND INDEPENDENT LIVES  

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

49 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

95.2 
Apr-Sep 

2019 

Tracker 95.3 94.2  93.6* 
2017/18 Yes 

N/a AMBER 
Not 

comparable  
Not 

comparable 
 

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held 5 November 2019
	7 County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) Three Year Consultation
	Agenda item 7 - Report of Chief Fire Officer for SSC OSC
	Agenda item 7 - IRMP 2020-2023 for SSC OSC
	Agenda item 7 - IRMP-Public_consultation for SSC OSC
	Agenda Item 7 - IRMP Q&A BOOK - 2020-2021 for SSC OSC
	Agenda item 7 - IRMP Presentation for SSC OSC

	8 Draft Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020-25
	Agenda item 8 - Appendix 2 - Draft SDPP 2020-2025 for SSC OSC
	Agenda item 8 - SDP Plan draft 2020-2025 presentation for SSC OSC

	9 Progress of Recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny Review of Cybercrime
	Agenda item 9 - Safer Cyber presentation for SSC OSC

	10 Quarter Two 2019/20 Performance Management Report



